



Contents

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Consolidated statement of financial position Consolidated statement of changes in equity Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes

- A. Accounting policies and measurement criteria
- B. Notes to the consolidated income statement
- C. Operating segments
- D. Notes to the consolidated statement of financial
- E. Commitments and risks
- F. Business combinations
- G. Related party transactions
- H. Significant non-recurring, atypical or unusual eve
- I. Notes to the statement of cash flows
- L. Government grants
- M. Events after 31 December 2019

Disclosure pursuant to art. 149-duodecies of the CONSOB Regulations for Issuers

Attestation of the consolidated financial sta of CONSOB Regulation 11971 of 14 May

Independent Auditor's Report pursuant to Decree 39 of 27 January 2010 and article no. 537/2014 - Consolidated financial stat 31 December 2019

9	170 170 171 172 174 176
al position vents and transactions	178 197 205 207 225 231 232 234 234 234 234
S	239
atements pursuant to art. 81 <i>-ter</i> 1999, as amended	240
article 14 and 16 of Legislative 10 of the Regulations (EU) tements for the year ended	242

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement

			(€n
	NOTE	2019	2018
A - REVENUE			
1. Revenue from sales and services	1	2,287.9	2,272.5
of which related parties		1,632.8	1,603.6
2. Other revenue and income	2	56.9	46.6
of which related parties		4.9	16.1
Total revenue		2,344.8	2,319.1
B - OPERATING COSTS			
1. Raw and consumable materials used	3	142.8	204.4
of which related parties		0.3	0.2
2. Services	4	187.3	191.2
of which related parties		17.1	19.1
3. Personnel expenses	5	256.7	244.
- gross personnel expenses		334.2	312.3
- capitalised personnel expenses		(77.5)	(68.2
of which related parties		2.9	2.9
4. Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses	6	586.1	554.
5. Other operating costs	7	16.8	28.8
of which related parties		0.1	0.1
Total costs		1,189.7	1,222.0
A-B OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)		1,155.1	1,096.
C - FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES)			
1. Financial income	8	11.3	6.9
2. Financial expenses	8	(92.3)	(98.3
of which related parties		(0.3)	(3.1
Share of profit/(loss) of investees accounted for using the equity method	9	3.3	2,6
D - PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX		1,077.4	1,007.
E - INCOME TAX EXPENSE	10	313.5	296.1
F - PROFIT FOR THE YEAR		763.9	711.6
Profit attributable to owners of the Parent		757.3	706.0
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests		6.6	5.0
Earnings per share	11		
Basic earnings per share		0.377	0.352
Diluted earnings per share		0.377	0.352

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

PROFIT	FOR THE	YEAR
--------	---------	------

Other comprehensive income for the year reclassifiable to profit or loss - Cash flow hedge

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

- Gains/(Losses) from translation of financial statements in currencies other than the euro

- Cost of hedges

Other comprehensive income for the year not reclassifiable to profit or loss

- Actuarial gains/(losses) on provisions for employee benefits

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: Owners of the Parent

Non-controlling interests

		(€m)
NOTE	2019	2018
	763.9	711.6
23 23 23	(93.7) 0.6 (0.6)	(32.1) 1.1 (4.8)
23	(11.6)	(1.8)
23	(2.1) 656.5	0.9 674.9
	649,9 6,6	669,9 5,0

Consolidated statement of financial position

			(€
	NOTE	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
A - NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
1. Property, plant and equipment	12	13,864.2	13,244.
of which related parties		45.3	40.
2. Goodwill	13	230.1	230.
3. Intangible assets	14	312.6	289.
4. Deferred tax assets	15	64.0	3.
5. Investments accounted for using the equity method	16	79.4	76.
6. Non-current financial assets	17	451.3	229.
7. Other non-current assets	18	15.9	14.
Total non-current assets		15,017.5	14,086
B - CURRENT ASSETS			
1. Inventories	19	50.9	63.
2. Trade receivables	20	1,290.7	1,167.
of which related parties		423.2	409.
3. Current financial assets	17	519.3	404.
4. Cash and cash equivalents	21	1,057.4	1,328.
of which related parties		0.1	0.
5. Income tax assets	22	5.2	19.
6. Other current assets	18	62.7	86.
of which related parties		-	3.
Total current assets		2,986.2	3,069.
TOTAL ASSETS		18,003.7	17,156.
			(continue

(continues)	
C - EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT	
1. Share capital	
2. Other reserves	
3. Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)	
4. Interim dividend	
5. Profit for the year	
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent	
D - EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS	
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent and non-controllin interests	ng
E - NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES	
1. Long-term borrowings	
2. Employee benefits	
3. Provisions for risks and charges	
4. Non-current financial liabilities	
5. Other non-current liabilities	
Total non-current liabilities	
F - CURRENT LIABILITIES	
1. Short-term borrowings	
2. Current portion of long-term borrowings	
of which related parties	
3. Trade payables	
of which related parties	
4. Tax expense	
5. Current financial liabilities	
of which related parties	
6. Other current liabilities	
of which related parties	
Total current liabilities	

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

		(€m)
NOTE	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
	442.2	442.2
	681.7	788.5
	2,478.3	2,240.1
	(169.2)	(158.2)
	757.3	706.6
23	4,190.3	4,019.2
23	41.6	35.0
	4,231.9	4,054.2
24	9,480.7	8,227.6
25	63.9	69.4
26	210.3	241.4
24	160.4	59.2
27	834.9	373.8
	10,750.2	8,971.4
24	25.0	25.0
24	126.5	1,230.6
	-	500,0
28	2,445.2	2,539.6
	85.5	66.7
28	11.8	5.1
24	87.7	90.4
	-	0.5
28	325.4	239.7
	20.9	14.7
	3,021.6	4,130.4
	18,003.7	17,156.0

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

31 DECEMBER 2018 - 31 DECEMBER 2019 **GROUP'S SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES**

	SHARE CAPITAL	LEGAL RESERVE	SHARE PREMIUM RESERVE	CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE	OTHER RESERVES	RETAINED EARNINGS/ (ACCUMULATED LOSSES)	INTERIM DIVIDEND	PROFIT FOR THE YEAR	EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT	EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON- CONTROLLING INTERESTS	EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2018	442.2	88.4	20.0	(46.6)	726.7	2,240.1	(158.2)	706.6	4,019.2	35.0	4,054.2
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR								757.3	757.3	6.6	763.9
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:											
- Change in fair value of cash flow hedges	-	-	-	(93.7)	-	-	-	-	(93.7)	-	(93.7)
- Actuarial gains/(losses) on employee benefits	-	-	-	-	(2.1)	-	-	-	(2.1)	-	(2.1)
- Gains/(Losses) from translation of financial statements in currencies other than the euro	-	-	-	-	-	(0.6)	-	-	(0.6)	-	(0.6)
- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	-	-	-	-	0.6	-	-	-	0.6	-	0.6
- Cost of hedges	-	-	-	(11.6)	-	-	-	-	(11.6)	-	(11.6)
Total other comprehensive income	-	-	-	(105.3)	(1.5)	(0.6)	-	-	(107.4)	-	(107.4)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	-	-	-	(105.3)	(1.5)	(0.6)	-	757.3	649.9	6.6	656.5
TRANSACTIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS:											
- Appropriation of profit for 2018:											
Retained earnings	-	-	-	-	-	237.9	-	(237.9)	-	-	-
Dividends	-	-	-	-	-	-	158.2	(468.7)	(310.5)	-	(310.5)
- Interim dividend 2019	-	-	-	-	-	-	(169.2)	-	(169.2)	-	(169.2)
Total transactions with shareholders	-	-	-	-		237.9	(11.0)	(706.6)	(479.7)	-	(479.7)
Other changes	-	-	-	-	-	0.9	-	-	0.9	-	0.9
Total other changes	-	-	-	-	-	0.9	-	-	0.9	-	0.9
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	442.2	88.4	20.0	(151.9)	725.2	2,478.3	(169.2)	757.3	4,190.3	41.6	4,231.9

31 DECEMBER 2017 - 31 DECEMBER 2018 **GROUP'S SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES**

RETAINED EARNINGS/ (ACCUMULATED CASH FLOW HEDGE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIB SHARE CAPITAL LEGAL RESERVE SHARE PREMIUM OTHER RESERVES INTERIM DIVIDEND RESERVE RESERVE OWNE LOSSES) EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 442.2 88.4 20.0 (12.7) 724.7 2,001.7 (149.3) 688.3 Change in accounting standards (3.0) **RESTATED EQUITY AT 1 JANUARY 2018** 442.2 88.4 20.0 (12.7) 724.7 1,998.7 (149.3) 688.3 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 706.6 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: - Change in fair value of cash flow hedges -(32.1) - Actuarial gains/(losses) on employee benefits 0.9 -------- Gains/(Losses) from translation of financial statements in currencies (4.8) -----other than the euro 1.1 - Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -- Cost of hedges (1.8)------(33.9) 2.0 (4.8) Total other comprehensive income -----COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (33.9) 2.0 (4.8) 706.6 -TRANSACTIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS: - Appropriation of profit for 2017: 246.1 (246.1) Retained earnings ----149.3 (442.2) Dividends ------(158.2) - Interim dividend 2018 --Total transactions with shareholders 246.1 (8.9) (688.3) ----Contribution of newly acquired companies -----Other changes 0.1 ----Total other changes ----0.1 --EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 442.2 88.4 726.7 20.0 (46.6) 2,240.1 (158.2) 706.6

EQI
ATTRIBUTA
TO OWNERS
THE PARENT
NON-CONTROLI

(€m)

(€m)

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS	EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON- CONTROLLING INTERESTS	EQUITY BUTABLE TO ERS OF THE PARENT
3,829.0	25.7	3,803.3
(3.6)	(0.6)	(3.0)
3,825.4	25.1	3,800.3
711.6	5.0	706.6
(32.1)	-	(32.1)
0.9	-	0.9
(4.8)	-	(4.8)
1.1	-	1.1
(1.8)	-	(1,8)
(36.7)	-	(36.7)
674.9	5.0	669.9
-	-	-
(292.9)	-	(292.9)
(158.2)	-	(158.2)
(451.1)	-	(451.1)
4.9	4.9	-
0.1	-	0.1

4.9

35.0

0.1

4,019.2

5.0

4,054.2

Consolidated statement of cash flows

		(€m)
	2019	2018
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR	763.9	711.6
ADJUSTED BY:		
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses /(reversals of impairment losses) on non-current property, plant and equipment and intangible assets*	577.6	545.0
Accruals to provisions (including provisions for employee benefits) and impairment losses	30.3	43.2
(Gains)/Losses on sale of property, plant and equipment	(12.9)	(3.5)
Financial (income)/expense	75.2	91.5
Income tax expense	311.9	296.1
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEFORE CHANGES IN NET WORKING CAPITAL	1,746.0	1,683.9
Increase/(decrease) in provisions (including provisions for employee benefits and taxation)	(69.5)	(54.5)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories	12.5	(0.4)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables and other current assets	(111.9)	129.2
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and other current liabilities	(10.5)	62.7
Increase/(decrease) in other non-current liabilities	427.5	128.0
(Increase)/decrease in other non-current assets	(178.6)	(115.0)
Interest income and other financial income received	24.1	5.0
Interest expense and other financial expenses paid	(225.3)	(230.0)
Income tax paid	(318.9)	(302.3)
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES [A]	1,295.4	1,306.6
- of which related parties	14.3	24.1
Investments in non-current property, plant and equipment after grants received	(1,121.0)	(992.5)
Revenue from sale of non-current property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and other movements	19.2	12.7
Capitalised financial expenses	12.1	15.1
Investments in non-current intangible assets after grants received	(81.2)	(56.4)
Recognition of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment from new acquisitions		(17.6)
(Increase)/decrease in investments in associates	(3.3)	1.8
CASH FLOW FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES [B]	(1,174.2)	(1,036.9)
- of which related parties	(4.4)	(14.7)
Increase/(decrease) in retained earnings and accumulated losses (change in accounting standards)	-	(2.9)
Dividends paid	(475.2)	(451.1)
Movements in short- and medium/long-term financial liabilities (including short-term portion) **	192.0	(78.8)
Movements in short-term financial investments	(109.5)	(401.5)
Recognition of non-controlling interests in equity of newly acquired companies		4.9
Increase/(decrease) in equity attributable to non-controlling interests	-	(0.6)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES [C]	(392.7)	(930,0)
- of which related parties	(500.0)	-
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS [A+B+C]	(271.5)	(660.3)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	1,328.9	1,989.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	1,057.4	1,328.9

(€m)

* After grants related to assets recognised in the income statement for the year.
 ** After derivatives and impact of fair value adjustments, including cash movements in right-of-use assets.



NINTAS

A. Accounting policies and measurement criteria

Introduction

Terna S.p.A.'s registered office is at Viale Egidio Galbani 70, Rome, Italy. The consolidated financial statements at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 include the Company's financial statements and those of its subsidiaries (the "Group"). The subsidiaries included within the scope of consolidation are listed below. These consolidated financial statements were authorised for publication by the Board of Directors on 10 March 2020.

The consolidated financial statements at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 are available for inspection on request at Terna S.p.A.'s registered office at Viale Egidio Galbani 70, Rome, or on the Company's website at www.terna.it.

The Board of Directors has also authorised the Chairwoman and the Chief Executive Officer to make any alterations to the form of the consolidated financial statements and any additions and adjustments to the sections concerning significant subsequent events.

The Terna Group is the largest independent transmission system operator in Europe and one of the leading operators in the world in terms of kilometres of line managed (more than 74 thousand km).

It is responsible for the transmission and management of power flows on the high-voltage (HV) and very high-voltage (VHV) grid throughout Italy, in order to guarantee a balance between demand and supply for energy (dispatching). It is also responsible for the planning, construction and maintenance of the grid. It acts as the Italian TSO (Transmission System Operator), having been granted a monopoly under a government concession, and is subject to regulation by Italy's Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and the Environment (ARERA) and the guidelines established by the Ministry for Economic Development. It ensures the security, quality and cost-effectiveness of the national electricity system and has the task of developing the grid and integrating it with the European grid. It ensures equal access for all grid users.

Compliance with IAS/IFRS

The consolidated financial statements at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting Standards (IAS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), as endorsed by the European Commission ("EU-IFRS").

This document has also been prepared taking into account the provisions of Legislative Decree 38 of 28 February 2005, of the Italian Civil Code and CONSOB Resolutions 15519 ("Provisions governing financial statements in implementation of art. 9, paragraph 3 of Legislative Decree 38/2005") and 15520 ("Amendments to the implementing rules for Legislative Decree 58/1998"), as well as CONSOB Communication DEM/6064293 ("Disclosure requirements for listed issuers and issuers of financial instruments that are widely held among the public pursuant to art. 116 of the Consolidated Law on Finance").

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements consist of the statement of financial position, the income statement, and the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows, the statement of changes in equity and the notes thereto.

In the statement of financial position, assets and liabilities are classified on a "current/non-current" basis, with separate reporting of assets and liabilities held for sale. Current assets, which include cash and cash equivalents, are those held for realisation, sale or consumption in the Group's normal operating cycle; current liabilities are those expected to be settled in the Group's normal operating cycle or within one year of the end of the financial year.

The income statement is classified on the basis of the nature of costs. The income statement is presented as two statements, the first of which (the income statement) presents revenue and expense items for the year; the second (the statement of comprehensive income) starts with the result for the year and then presents the revenue and expense items (including reclassification adjustments) that are recognised in equity rather than profit or loss for the year.

The statement of cash flows has been prepared using the indirect method. The consolidated financial statements are accompanied by the Integrated Report for Terna S.p.A. and the Group, which as from financial year 2008 has been prepared as a single document, exercising the option granted by Legislative Decree 32 of 2 February 2007, which amended art. 40 (Integrated Report) of Legislative Decree 127 of 9 April 1991.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euros, and all amounts are shown in millions of euros to the first decimal place, unless otherwise indicated.

It should be noted that, for the purposes of comparison, certain amounts in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been restated, without, however, altering amounts in equity at 31 December 2018 or those in the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income for 2018.

Use of estimates

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Group to use estimates and assumptions that affect the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the related disclosures, in addition to contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date. These estimates and the associated assumptions are based on previous experience and various factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting estimates form the basis for making the judgements about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other objective sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of any changes are recognised in the income statement for the year, if they relate solely to that period. In the case that the revision affects both current and future years, the change is recorded in the year in which the estimate is reviewed as well as in the relevant future years.

The assets and liabilities subject to estimates and key assumptions used by the Group in applying the IFRS endorsed by the European Commission, and that could have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements, or that could give rise to risks that would entail significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in subsequent years, are summarised below.

Impairment losses

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested at least once a year to check for evidence of impairment. If there is evidence that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, where present, as well as intangible assets not yet available for use, is estimated at least annually. The recoverable amount is equal

to the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is measured by discounting estimated future cash flows considering information available at the time of estimate and on the basis of estimates of the performance of future variables, such as prices, costs, demand growth rates, production profiles, and discounted at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money for the investment period and risks specific to the asset. If the intangible asset does not generate cash inflows, the asset's recoverable amount is calculated as part of the Cash Generating Unit ("CGU") to which it belongs. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement when the asset's carrying amount, or the net invested capital of the CGU to which it belongs, is greater than its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses on CGUs are first taken as a reduction in the carrying amount of any allocated goodwill and then as a reduction in other assets allocated to the CGU on a pro rata basis. Except for goodwill, impairment losses may be reversed up to the recoverable amount or the original cost of the asset if there is an indication that the impairment loss no longer exists or when there is a change in the methods used to measure the recoverable amount.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value net of any losses relating to sums considered nonrecoverable, for which specific provisions have been made in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Credit losses are determined in application of IFRS 9 (a model based on expected credit losses). This requires the Group to assess expected credit losses, and the related changes, at each reporting date.

Specifically, the Group has applied the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 to trade receivables, finance lease receivables and assets deriving from contracts with customers, in order to measure the allowance for doubtful accounts based on expected losses over the life of the receivable. The Group has thus determined the amount of expected credit losses using a provisioning matrix, based on information regarding historical credit losses for similar past due exposures, adjusted to take into account current conditions and forwardlooking elements.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions for risks and charges are allocated when a disbursement of cash, for an amount which can be reliably estimated, will be necessary to fulfil a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event. Where the time value of money is significant, provisions are discounted, using a rate that the Group believes to be appropriate (a rate is used that reflects current market conditions and the specific risks connected with the liability). After initial recognition, the value of the provisions for risks and charges is updated to reflect the passage of time and any changes in the estimate following alterations to the amounts forecast, the timing and the discount rates used. Any increase in provisions associated with the passage of time is recognised in the income statement under "Financial expenses".

Liabilities that can be associated with legal and tax disputes and liabilities associated with urban and environmental restoration projects are estimated by the Group. The measurement of provisions for legal disputes is based on the probability of incurring an expense, including through the use of external legal advisors supporting the Group companies; the estimate of provisions to be set aside for urban and environmental restoration projects, the "offsets" aimed at compensating for the environmental impact of the construction of new plant, is based on an analysis of the agreements entered into with the local authorities concerned and the progress of work on construction of the new plant.

Employee benefits

The liability for employee benefits paid upon or following termination of employment in relation to defined benefit plans or other long-term benefits is recognised net of any plan assets and is measured on the basis of actuarial assumptions, estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have vested at the reporting date. The actuarial valuations used to quantify employee benefits (of all plans except termination benefits [TFR - Trattamento di Fine Rapporto]) are based on "vested benefits", applying the projected unit credit method. These valuations are based on economic and demographic assumptions: the discount rate (used to determine the current value of the obligation, determined considering returns on high quality bonds in line with the duration of the group of workers measured), the inflation rate, the rate at which future salary levels are expected to rise, the rate of increase for average health reimbursements, rate of increase for electricity prices and demographic factors, such as mortality and invalidity, retirement, resignation, advances and household composition.

Subsidiaries and scope of consolidation

The scope of consolidation includes the Parent Company, Terna S.p.A., and the companies over which it has the power to directly or indirectly exercise control. Control exists when the Parent Company has the power or the ability to influence the relevant activities (having a substantial impact on the Parent Company's results), and is exposed to or has the right to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to use its power over the subsidiaries to affect the amount of the investor's returns. The financial statements of subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis from the date when the Parent Company gains control until the date when such control ceases. The companies included within the scope of consolidation are listed below:

NAME	REGISTERED OFFICE	CURRENCY	SHARE CAPITAL	% INTEREST	METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION
SUBSIDIARIES CONTR	ROLLED DIRECTLY BY TE	RNA S.P.A.			
Terna Rete Italia S.p.A.	Rome	Euro	300,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, mana infrastructure and other gri transmission and dispatch	id-related infrastruc	ture, plant and eq	uipment used in th	e above electricity
Terna Crna Gora d.o.o.	Podgorica (Montenegro)	Euro	173,000,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Authorisation, construction interconnector on Monteneg		e transmission infras	structure forming th	e Italy-Montenegro
Terna Plus S.r.l.	Rome	Euro	16,050,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, man and infrastructure for grids systems.				
Terna Interconnector S.r.I.	Rome	Euro	10,000	65%*	Line-by-line
Business	Responsible for constructi and civil works on the public		of the private section	on of the Italy-Frar	nce interconnector
Rete S.r.I.	Rome	Euro	387,267,082	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, ma power lines.	anagement, develo	pment, operation	and maintenanc	e of high-voltage
Difebal S.A.	Montevideo (Uruguay)	Uruguayan peso	140,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction and r	maintenance of elec	ctricity infrastructur	e in Uruguay.	
Terna Energy Solutions S.r.I.	Rome	Euro	2,000,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, man storage systems, pumping grids; research, consultand capable of improving the u	g and/or storage sy cy and assistance in	ystems, plant, equ matters relating to	uipment and infras the core business	tructure, including
Resia Interconnector S.r.I.	Rome	Euro	10,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, man- third parties, of power line plant and equipment for us sectors, and has been esta in relation to implementation	s and grid infrastrue se in electricity tran ablished to fulfil the c	cture and other inf smission operation obligations assume	rastructure connects, or in similar, rela	eted to such grids, ated or connected
PI.S.A 2 S.r.I.	Rome	Euro	10,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, man- third parties, of power line plant and equipment for us sectors, and has been esta in relation to implementation	s and grid infrastrue se in electricity tran ablished to fulfil the c	cture and other inf smission operation obligations assume	rastructure connects, or in similar, rela	eted to such grids, ated or connected

* 5% is held by Terna Rete Italia S.p.A. and 30% by Transenergia S.r.I., which does not belong to the Terna Group.

NAME	REGISTERED OFFICE	CURRENCY	SHARE CAPITAL	% INTEREST	METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION
SUBSIDIARIES CONTR	ROLLED THROUGH TERNA F	PLUS S.R.L.			
Terna Chile S.p.A.	Santiago (Chile)	Chilean peso	2,030,800,000	100%	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, admir electricity system, plant, equip of product and service, const assistance in matters relating development of plant, resource	oment and infrast ruction, electrica to the core busin	ructure, including i l and civil engineer ess; any other activ	nterconnectors; pr ing work; research	ovision of all types n, consultancy and
SPE Santa Maria Transmissora de Energia S.A.	Rio de Janeiro (Brazil)	Real	42,474,716	99.99%*	Line-by-line
Business	Provision of public electricity tr of transmission infrastructure				
SPE Santa Lucia Transmissora de Energia S.A.	Rio de Janeiro (Brazil)	Real	153,714,431	99.99%*	Line-by-line
Business	Provision of public electricity tr of electricity transmission inf purpose.				
Terna Peru S.A.C	Lima (Peru)	Sales	77,043,000	99.99%*	Line-by-line
Business	Design, construction, admin electricity system, plant, equip of product and service, const assistance in matters relating development of plant, resource	oment and infrast ruction, electrica to the core busin	ructure, including i l and civil engineer ess; any other activ	nterconnectors; pr ing work; research	ovision of all types n, consultancy and
Terna 4 Chacas S.A.C	Lima (Peru)	Sales	1,000	99.99%*	Line-by-line
Business	Responsible for construction	of a new 16 km	oower line in Peru.		
SPE Transmissora de energia Linha Verde II S.A.	Belo Horizonte (Brazil)	Real	33,729,548	75%**	Line-by-line
Business	Provision of public electricity to of electricity transmission info purpose.				

* 0.01% Terna Chile S.p.A..
 ** 25% Quebec Holding Eireli, which does not belong to the Terna Group.

NAME	REGISTERED OFFICE	CURRENCY	SHARE CAPITAL	% INTEREST	METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION			
SUBSIDIARIES CONTR	ROLLED THROUGH TERNA I	ENERGY SOLUTI	ONS S.R.L.					
Tamini Trasformatori S.r.I.	Legnano (MI)	Euro	4,285,714	70%*	Line-by-line			
Business	Construction, repair and trad	ing in electrical eq	uipment.					
Rete Verde 17 S.r.l.	Rome	Euro	10,000	100%	Line-by-line			
Business	Implementation and develop	ment of renewable	energy projects.					
Rete Verde 18 S.r.l.	Rome	Euro	10,000	100%	Line-by-line			
Business	Implementation and develop	ment of renewable	energy projects.					
Rete Verde 19 S.r.l.	Rome	Euro	10,000	100%	Line-by-line			
Business	Implementation and develop	mplementation and development of renewable energy projects.						
Rete Verde 20 S.r.I.	Rome	Euro	10,000	100%	Line-by-line			
Business	Implementation and develop	ment of renewable	energy projects.					
Avvenia The Energy Innovator S.r.I.	Rome	Euro	10,000	70%**	Line-by-line			
Business	Provision of energy efficience and public and private entities the design, construction, de networks and other uses.	es; the application	of technology to	increase energy e	end-use efficiency;			
SUBSIDIARIES CONTR	ROLLED THROUGH TAMINI	TRASFORMATO	RI S.R.L.					
Tamini Transformers USA LLC	Sewickley - Pennsylvania	US dollar	52,089	100%	Line-by-line			
Business	Commercialisation of industri	al-grade and high-	-power electricity t	ransformers.				
Tamini Transformatori India Private Limited	Maharashtra (India)	Indian rupee	13,175,000	100%	Line-by-line			
Business	Commercialisation of industri	al-grade and high-	-power electricity t	ransformers.				

* 30% Holdco TES (controlled by the Xenon Private Equity V fund, Riccardo Reboldi and Giorgio Gussago). ** 30% Avvenia S.r.l..

The following changes in the structure of the Group have taken place with respect to 31 December 2018: • PI.SA.2 S.r.I., a wholly owned subsidiary of Terna S.p.A., was established on 15 February 2019, following a restructuring of the regulated activities relating to the Italy-France interconnector;

- Terna 4 Chacas S.A.C. was established on 6 August 2019, following the agreement signed in 2016 to start work on the construction of a new 16-km power line in Peru. The company is 99.99999% owned by Terna Plus S.r.l, with the remaining interest held by Terna Chile S.p.A.;
- on 11 November 2019, Terna S.p.A., acting through its subsidiary, Terna Plus S.r.I., closed the transaction with Construtora Quebec resulting in the acquisition of a 75% interest in the Brazilian-registered joint-stock company, SPE Transmissione de energia Linha Verde II S.A.;
- the sale of Monita Interconnector S.r.l. to Interconnector Energy Italia s.c.p.a. was completed on 17 December 2019.

Associates

Associates are investees over which the Terna Group exercises significant influence, being the ability to participate in the determination of these companies' financial and operating policies, without having control or joint control. In assessing whether or not Terna has significant influence, potential voting rights that are exercisable or convertible are also taken into account.

These investments are initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured using the equity method. The profits or losses attributable to the Group are recognised in the consolidated financial statements when significant influence begins and until that influence ceases. Based on application of the equity method, if there is evidence that the investment has been impaired, the Group determines the amount of the impairment based on the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of the investment in question. In the event that the loss attributable to the Group exceeds the carrying amount of the equity interest, the latter is written off and any excess is recognised in a specific provision, if the Parent Company is required to meet the legal or constructive obligations of the investee or, in any case, to cover its losses.

Joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures, in which the Group exercises joint control with other entities, are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured using the equity method. The profits or losses attributable to the Group are recognised in the consolidated financial statements when joint control begins and until that control ceases.

In assessing the existence of joint control, it is ascertained whether the parties are bound by a contractual agreement and whether this agreement attributes to the parties the joint control of the agreement itself. Joint control exists when an entity has control over an arrangement on a contractual basis, and only when decisions relating to the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of all parties that jointly control the arrangement.

The list of associates and joint ventures included is shown below:

NAME	REGISTERED OFFICE	CURRENCY	SHARE CAPITAL*	PROFIT FOR THE YEAR*	% INTEREST	METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION	CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 (€M)
ASSOCIATES							
Cesi S.p.A.	Milan	Euro	8,550,000	7,035,999	42.698%	Equity Method	52.2
Business	Experimental researc	h and provisio	on of services	related to electro	-technology.		
Coreso S.A.	Brussels (Belgium)	Euro	1,000,000	344,600	15.84%	Equity Method	0.5
Business	Technical centre own operations of TSOs, central and western	in order to imp	2				
CGES A.D.	Podgorica (Montenegro)	Euro	155,108,283	4,182,134	22.0889%	Equity Method	26.7
Business	Provision of transmis	sion and disp	atching servic	es in Montenegro).		
JOINT VENTU	RES						
ELMED Etudes S.a.r.I.	Tunis (Tunisia)	Tunisian dinar	2,700,000	(187,909)	50%	Equity Method	-
Business	Conduct of preparate Italian electricity syste	,	the construc	tion of the infrasti	ructure required	to connect the Tu	inisian and

* Figures taken from the latest approved financial statements at the date of preparation of this document.

Basis of consolidation

All the separate financial statements of the investees used to prepare the consolidated financial statements were drafted as of 31 December 2019 and have been approved by their respective Boards of Directors and shareholders' meetings; they have been adjusted, where necessary, to align them with the Parent Company's accounting policies.

During preparation of the consolidated financial statements, intercompany balances, transactions, revenue and costs are fully eliminated, net of the related tax effect, where material ("consolidation on a line-by-line basis").

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions with associates and joint ventures are eliminated in proportion to the Group's interest therein. In both cases, unrealised losses are eliminated, unless they represent an impairment.

Translation of foreign currency items

In the Group's financial statements, all transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recognised at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the functional currency are subsequently adjusted at the exchange rate prevailing at year end. Any translation differences are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency stated at historical cost are converted at the exchange rate prevailing when the transaction was initially recognised. Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency stated at fair value are converted at the exchange rate prevailing when fair value was measured.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recognised at historical cost, including costs directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. In the event of legal or constructive obligations, cost also includes the present value of the estimated cost of dismantling or removing the asset. The corresponding liability is recognised in provisions for risks and charges.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the purchase, construction or production of an asset that qualify for capitalisation pursuant to IAS 23R are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. Costs incurred after purchase are recognised as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset to which they relate if it is probable that the future benefits of that cost will flow to the Group, and if the cost can be reliably measured. All other costs are expensed as incurred.

Each element of an item of property, plant and equipment of material value, with respect to the total value of the item to which it belongs, is recognised and depreciated separately.

Property, plant and equipment is shown net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life of the asset, which is reviewed annually, with revisions applied on a prospective basis. Depreciation of an asset begins when the asset becomes available for use.

Liabilities associated with items of property, plant and equipment are taken to a specific provision as a contra account of the related asset. The amount is taken to the income statement through the depreciation of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment is written off either at the time of disposal or when no future economic benefit is expected from their use or disposal. Any profit or loss, recognised in the income statement, is determined as the difference between the net proceeds deriving from disposal and the net carrying amount of the assets eliminated.

This item also includes right-of-use assets, recognised under IFRS 16, arising from lease arrangements where the Group is lessee and relating to the use of property, plant and equipment. The matching lease liability, equal to the present value of the remaining lease payments, is accounted for in financial liabilities. Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date to the end of the useful life of the underlying asset or, if earlier, the end of the lease term.

In determining the lease term and the non-cancellable period of the lease, the Group has taken into account the terms of the arrangements and assessed the period of time in which contracts are enforceable.

The main rates of depreciation, calculated on the basis of the useful lives of the relevant assets, are as follows:

RATES OF DEPRECIATION	
Civil and industrial buildings	2.50%
Transmission lines	2.22%
Transformer substations:	
- Electrical machinery	2.38%
- Electrical devices and equipment	3.13%
- Automation and control systems	6.70%
Central systems for remote management and control:	
- Devices, electrical equipment and ancillary plant	5.00%
- Computers	10.00%

Land, regardless of whether it is free of constructions or related to civil and industrial buildings, is not depreciated, since it has an indefinite useful life.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, which all have finite useful lives, are recognised at cost and shown net of accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation begins when the asset becomes available for use and is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset, which is reviewed annually. Any revisions to estimated figures are applied on a prospective basis. Intangible assets essentially consist of the concession to exclusively provide electricity transmission and dispatching services, granted to the Parent Company Terna S.p.A. on 1 November 2005, with the acquisition of the TSO business unit. As established in the Decree issued by the Ministry of Productive Activities on 20 April 2005, this concession has a 25-year term, renewable for another 25 years, from the date of effective transfer of the activities, functions, assets and legal arrangements of the concession from GSE (formerly GRTN) to Terna S.p.A.. This intangible asset was initially recognised at cost, which reflected fair value. Other intangible assets essentially refer to software developments and upgrades. Development costs are capitalised by the Terna Group only if they can be reliably estimated and there is the technical possibility and intention to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use, and the asset can be used and it is possible to demonstrate that it will generate probable future economic benefits. Financial expenses directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a non-current asset which justifies capitalisation pursuant to IAS 23 are capitalised to the asset as part of its cost. All other development costs and research expenses are recognised in the income statement when incurred. These intangible assets are amortised over their estimated residual useful life, which is normally three years, given their rapid obsolescence.

Infrastructure rights

Infrastructure includes the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets employed in dispatching activities in Italy and in the operations in Peru. These activities are carried out under concession arrangements, which fall within the scope of application of IFRIC 12, since the services provided are regulated and control exists over the residual interest. More specifically, infrastructure rights have been recognised as an intangible asset, as valued on the basis of the Intangible Asset model, given the return generated by dispatching activities thanks to the charges paid by users.

The revenue and costs relating to investment in dispatching activities are recognised with reference to the contracts concerned on a stage-of-completion basis; revenue recognised during the construction phase is limited to the amount of the internal and external construction costs incurred, considering that the fair value of the construction services is equivalent to the construction cost paid to third-party contractors plus the internal cost of the technical personnel employed on such construction activities. The assets continue to be amortised and depreciated in accordance with the initial schedule. By contrast, dispatching revenue continues to be recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 and financial expenses continue to be capitalised pursuant to IAS 23.

IFRIC 12, instead, is not applicable to the part of the Parent Company's concession arrangement relating to transmission activities, since neither the concession nor the related legislation envisages that ownership of the NTG is to be restored to the public grantor, even for a consideration.

Goodwill

Goodwill, deriving from the acquisition of subsidiaries, is allocated to each of the cash generating units (CGU) identified, coinciding with Group companies that own electricity transmission grids and with the Tamini Group, relating to the production and commercialisation of transformers. Goodwill is not amortised after initial recognition but is adjusted to reflect impairment losses, measured as described above. Goodwill relating to investments in associates and joint ventures is included in the carrying amount of those companies. Where negative goodwill arises, it is recognised in the income statement at the time of acquisition.

Inventories

Inventories are recognised and measured at the lower of purchase cost and net estimated realisable value. Cost is calculated as the weighted average, including accrued ancillary expenses. Net estimated realisable value means the estimated sale price under normal conditions net of completion costs and the estimated costs to sell.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

The standard IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, effective from 1 January 2018, is divided into the following phases: classification and measurement, derecognition, impairment and hedge accounting.

In order to classify and measure financial instruments, the Group recognises financial assets at fair value inclusive of transaction costs.

Financial assets represented by debt instruments, and falling within the scope of application of the standard, may be measured at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income or at fair value through profit or loss, depending on the business model adopted to manage the financial assets and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows.

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9, the Group correctly classifies these assets based on the results of so-called SSPI ("solely payments of principal and interest") tests. Under this test, assets may be recognised at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income if the generate cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. This measurement is applied at the level of each individual instrument.

Specifically, the Group measures financial assets:

- at amortised cost, if the financial asset is held with the aim of collecting the contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI test, as the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest;
- at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"), if the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting the contractual cash flows and by selling the financial asset, and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Changes in fair value after initial recognition are recognised in other comprehensive income and recycled through profit or loss on derecognition. The government securities held by the Parent Company are included in this category;
- at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), of the asset is not held in one of the above business models. This category primarily includes derivative financial instruments held for trading and debt instruments with contractual cash flows that are not solely payments of capital and interest.

Infrastructure rights

These include the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets employed in Brazil under concession arrangements falling within the scope of application of IFRIC 12, since the services provided are regulated and control exists over the residual interest. More specifically, infrastructure rights have been recognised in financial assets, as valued on the basis of the Financial Asset model, given the return generated by the activities. This derives from an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from, or at the direction of, the grantor (or from third parties, according to the grantor's instructions) and the fact that the grantor cannot avoid payment.

The revenue and costs relating to investment are recognised with reference to the contracts concerned on a stage-of-completion basis; revenue recognised during the construction phase includes a profit margin on the work performed.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Receivables with due dates that reflect normal commercial terms are not discounted.

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9, the Group's trade receivables fall within the hold to collect business model, as these assets are held with the objective of collecting the cash flows primarily by collecting the contractual cash flows, the receivables primarily fall due within 12 months and do not include a significant financial component, and the Group does not intent to sell such receivables. Trade receivables are recognised net of any losses recognised in a specific allowance for doubtful accounts (identified on the basis described in the paragraph, "Allowance for doubtful accounts"). IFRS 9 has introduced application of a model based on expected credit losses. This requires the Group to assess expected credit losses, and the related changes, at each reporting date. Specifically, the Group has applied the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 to trade receivables, finance lease receivables and assets deriving from contracts with customers, in order to measure the allowance for doubtful accounts based on expected losses over the life of the receivable. The Group has thus determined the amount of expected credit losses using a provisioning matrix, based on information regarding historical credit losses for similar past due exposures, adjusted to take into account current conditions and forward-looking elements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at nominal value and include amounts that are available on demand or can be readily converted into a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade payables

Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost. If their due dates reflect normal commercial terms, they are not discounted.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised at the settlement date and measured at fair value, net of directly related transaction costs. Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the original effective interest method. If the liabilities are covered by fair value hedges, they are adjusted to reflect changes in fair value with respect to the hedged risk. Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as financial liabilities at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are recognised at fair value at the trade date. The qualifying criteria applied in classifying derivatives as eligible for hedge accounting are as follows:

- the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging instruments and eligible hedged items; • at the inception of the hedging relationship there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and the entity's risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That documentation shall include identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including its analysis of the sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how it determines the hedge ratio);
- the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

An entity shall discontinue hedge accounting prospectively only when the hedging relationship (or a part of a hedging relationship) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria. This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. For this purpose, the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument is not an expiration or termination if such a replacement or rollover is part of, and consistent with, the entity's documented risk management objective.

For hedge accounting purposes, there are three types of hedge:

- fair value hedges when the hedge regards the exposure to changes in the fair value of the recognised asset or liability or there is an unrecognised firm commitment;
- cash flow hedges when the hedge regards the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with all of the recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the exchange rate risk on an unrecognised firm commitment;
- the hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation.

When derivatives cover the risk of changes in the cash flows of the hedged instruments (cash flow hedges), the portion of changes in the fair value qualifying as effective is initially recognised in "Other comprehensive income" and subsequently in profit or loss, as the cash flows from the hedged item affects profit or loss. The portion of the fair value of the hedging instrument that does not gualify as effective is recognised in profit or loss.

When hedging derivatives cover the risk of changes in the fair value of hedged instruments (fair value hedges), they are recognised at fair value in profit or loss. Accordingly, the hedged items are adjusted to reflect changes in the fair value associated with the hedged risk.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not meet hedge accounting requirements in accordance with the EU-IFRS are recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value is measured on the basis of official quotations for instruments traded in regulated markets. The fair value of instruments not traded in regulated markets is measured by discounting projected cash flows along a yield curve prevailing in the market at the reporting date, and by translating amounts in currencies other than the euro at closing exchange rates.

Financial and non-financial contracts (which are not already measured at fair value) are also analysed to identify any embedded derivatives, which must be separated and measured at fair value.

This analysis is conducted at the time the entity becomes party to the contract or when the contract is renegotiated in a manner that produces a material change in the original associated cash flows.

Employee benefits

The liability associated with employee benefits payable on or after termination of employment relate to defined benefit plans (deferred compensation benefits, additional months' pay, payment in lieu of notice, energy discounts, ASEM health cover and other benefits) or other long-term employee benefits (loyalty bonuses) and is recognised net of any plan assets. The liability is measured separately for each plan on the basis of actuarial calculations that estimate the amount of vested future benefits that employees have accrued at the reporting date. The liability is recognised on an accruals basis over the vesting period and is measured by independent actuaries.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions set aside for risks and charges are recognised when, at the reporting date, the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as the result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the disbursement. Where the effect is material, provisions are made by discounting estimated future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects current market rates and the specific risk applicable to the obligation, if any. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provisions due to the passage of time is recognised in the income statement as a financial expense. If it relates to property, plant and equipment (site disposal and restoration, for example), the provision is recognised as a contra entry to the asset to which it relates. The expense is recognised in the income statement through depreciation of the item of property, plant and equipment to which it relates.

Changes in the estimates are recognised in the income statement for the year in which the change occurs, except for the expected costs of dismantling, removal and restoration resulting from changes in the timing and use of the economic resources necessary to extinguish the obligation, or are attributable to a material change in the discount rate. These costs are recognised as an increase or reduction in the related assets and recognised in the income statement through depreciation.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is a reasonable certainty that they will be received and that the Group will comply with all the conditions required for disbursement. Grants received in relation to specific assets whose value is recognised under non-current assets are recognised, in the case of plant already in operation at 31 December 2002, among other liabilities and taken to the income statement over the depreciation period for the assets in question. As of the 2003 financial year, grants related to new plant entering service are recognised as a direct reduction in the non-current asset concerned. Grants related to income are recognised in the income statement when the conditions for recognition are met.

Revenue

The Group's revenue can be categorised as follows:

• Revenue from sales and services, including revenue from contracts with customers and therefore falling within the scope of IFRS 15.

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 15, revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the performance obligations identified in the contract are satisfied and control over the goods or services is transferred to the customer for an amount that reflects the consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services.

The standard envisages two methods for identifying the correct time at which to recognise the revenue attributable to each performance obligation: at contract inception, the Group determines if the goods or services covered by the performance obligation will be transferred to the customer over a period of time or at a point in time:

- Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the customer (at a point in time). The Group determines if there are other promises in the contract representing a performance obligation to which a part of the transaction consideration must be allocated. In determining the sale price, the Group takes into account the effects of a variable consideration, significant financial components, non-monetary components and amounts to be paid to the customer (if present);
- Revenue from services is recognised with reference to the stage of completion of the activity, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 15 (over a period of time).
- Other revenue and income, which includes revenue from lease arrangements and other residual forms of revenue, included within the scope of application of IFRS 15, deriving from sales of goods not forming part of the Group's ordinary activities.

Financial income and expenses

Financial expenses directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that gualify for capitalisation are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. The property, plant and equipment and intangible assets involved are those that require at least one year in order to prepare them for use. The directly attributable financial expenses are expenses that would not have been incurred had the expenditure for the asset not been incurred.

Where funds are borrowed specifically, the costs eligible for capitalisation are the actual costs incurred less any income earned on the temporary investment of such borrowings. Where loans are obtained for general purposes, the eligible amount is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditure on that asset equal to the weighted average of the financial expenses applicable to the borrowings outstanding for the year, excluding any specifically borrowed funds. The amount of capitalised financial expenses during a year will in any case not exceed the amount of financial expenses incurred during that year. Capitalisation commences as from the date all the following conditions are first met: (a) expenditure has been incurred for the asset; (b) financial expenses have been incurred; and (c) the activities involved in preparing the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation ceases when the activities involved in preparing the asset for its intended use or sale are substantially complete. The average capitalisation rate used for 2019 is approximately 0.9% (1.23% for 2018). Financial income and expenses other than capitalised amounts are recognised on an accruals basis in respect of the interest on the net value of the related financial assets and liabilities, using the effective interest rate.

Dividends

Dividends from investees are recognised when the shareholders' right to receive payment is established. Dividends and interim dividends payable to shareholders are shown as changes in equity at the date in which they are approved by the General Meeting of shareholders and the Board of Directors, respectively.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the year attributable to holders of the ordinary shares by the weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Income taxes

Current income taxes are recognised as "Tax liabilities", net of advances paid, or "Tax assets" where the net balance of the items is positive. They are based on the estimated taxable income and in accordance with current legislation, taking account of applicable exemptions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in the separate financial statements and the corresponding amounts recognised for tax purposes, using current tax rates or the rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse, based on rates approved at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when their recovery is considered probable, i.e. when future taxable income will be available against which the asset can be used. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each year.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in any case if they exist. Taxes relating to items recognised directly in OCI are also allocated to Other Comprehensive Income.

New accounting standards

International financial reporting standards effective as of 1 January 2019

One new accounting standard, whose application has not had a material impact for the Group, and a number of new amendments to standards already applied came into effect from 1 January 2019.

IFRS 16 - Leases

The Terna Group adopted the new IFRS 16 for the first time from 1 January 2019.

The IASB issued IFRS 16 on 13 January 2016. Endorsed by the EU on 31 October 2017 through regulation 2017/1986, the new standard replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

The standard, which governs accounting for leases, is based on the right to control the use of an asset (the right of use), which distinguishes a lease arrangement from a service contract on the basis of certain elements, such as: identification of the asset underlying the lease, the right to substitute the asset, the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

In particular, IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessors to account for all lease arrangements using the same accounting approach applicable to finance leases under IAS 17.

Among the changes, the new standard, in dispensing with the distinction between operating and finance leases, bases the accounting presentation on the "right-of-use" approach, which for the lessee makes the accounting uniform for any type of lease. Under the approach set out in the standard, at the inception date of a lease, the lessee must recognise a lease liability and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (the right-of-use asset). Lessees must recognise interest expense on the lease liability separately from the depreciation charge on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees are also required to remeasure the lease liability on the occurrence of certain events such as, for example, a change in the lease term or in future lease payments. The lessee must recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

The standard also includes two recognition exemptions for lessees: (i) leases where the underlying asset is of "low value" (for example, personal computers or assets with a unit value of below US\$5,000 and (ii) shortterm leases (lease arrangements with a lease term of less than or equal to 12 months).

Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification rules applicable under IAS 17 and will distinguish between two types of lease: operating and finance.

The Terna Group adopted the standard from 1 January 2019, accounting for the impact on existing leases at the date of initial application without restating comparatives (the "modified retrospective option") in accordance with the provisions of paragraph C8b) of the standard. In the case of leases previously classified as operating leases (under IAS 17), the Group has recognised: a) the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee's

- incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application;
- or accrued lease payments relating to that lease, as recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application.

Applying this approach, the Terna Group has recognised: (i) assets and liabilities for all leases with terms in excess of twelve months; (ii) depreciation of the recognised assets and interest expense on the lease liability separately in the income statement.

The Group has elected to apply the exemptions provided for in the standard, excluding short-term leases (where the lease term is less than 12 months) and leases where the underlying asset is of low value. The Terna Group has also elected to apply the practical expedients provided for in the standard, excluding from the calculation leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the initial date of application, and not applying the standard to arrangements not previously identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

The discount rate used on transition to the new standard is the Group's incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019, applied over the term of the leases.

In determining the lease term and the non-cancellable period of the lease, the Group has taken into account the terms of the arrangements and assessed the period of time in which contracts are enforceable.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether or not there is reasonable certainty that it will exercise or not the option to extend or terminate the lease, considering all the relevant events and circumstances that create an economic incentive to do so.

Application of the new standard has not had a material impact on the Group's financial statements. The principal effects regard recognition of right-of-use assets (and related lease liabilities) resulting from hire contracts for fleet vehicles, rental agreements for accommodation used by certain employees and for properties for office use and land.

b) the right-of-use asset at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted by the amount of any prepaid

The following table shows the impact of first-time adoption of IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

	AT 31 DECEMBER 2018	IMPACT OF IFRS 16	RESTATED AT 1 JANUARY 2019
A - NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
1. Property, plant and equipment	13,244.3	28.6	13,272.9
2. Goodwill	230.1	-	230.1
3. Intangible assets	289.3	-	289.3
4. Deferred tax assets	3.3	-	3.3
5. Investments accounted for using the equity method	76.1	-	76.1
6. Non-current financial assets	229.0	-	229.0
7. Other non-current assets	14.8	-	14.8
Total non-current assets	14,086.9	28.6	14,115.5
B - CURRENT ASSETS			
1. Inventories	63.4	-	63.4
2. Trade receivables	1,167.0	-	1,167.0
3. Current financial assets	404.5	-	404.5
4. Cash and cash equivalents	1,328.9	-	1,328.9
5. Income tax assets	19.3	-	19.3
6. Other current assets	86.0	(7.2)	78.8
Total current assets	3,069.1	(7.2)	3,061.9
TOTAL ASSETS	17,156.0	21.4	17,177.4
C - EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT			
1. Share capital	442.2	-	442.2
2. Other reserves	788.5	-	788.5
3. Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)	2,240.1	-	2,240.1
4. Interim dividend	(158.2)	-	(158.2
5. Profit for the year	706.6	-	706,6
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent	4,019.2	-	4,019.2
D - EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS	35.0		35.0
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent and non-controlling interests	4,054.2	-	4,054.2
E - NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES			
1. Long-term borrowings	8,227.6	17.3	8,244.9
2. Employee benefits	69.4	-	69.4
Provisions for risks and charges	241.4	-	241.4
5. Non-current financial liabilities	59.2	-	59.2
6. Other non-current liabilities	373.8	-	373.8
Total non-current liabilities	8,971.4	17.3	8,988.7
F - CURRENT LIABILITIES			
1. Short-term borrowings	25.0	-	25.0
2. Current portion of long-term borrowings	1,230.6	4.1	1,234.7
3. Trade payables	2,539.6	-	2,539.6
4. Tax expense	5.1	-	5.1
5. Current financial liabilities	90.4	-	90.4
6. Other current liabilities	239.7	-	239.7
Total current liabilities	4,130.4	4.1	4,134.
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	17,156.0	21.4	17,177.4

New amendments and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact. The main ones are described below:

Amendment to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

Endorsed by the European Commission on 22 March 2018, with Regulation 2018/498, the amendment to IFRS 9 proposes to allow certain financial assets with a prepayment option, such as negative compensation features, to be measured at amortised cost (as well as at fair value through comprehensive income).

Amendment to IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

On 23 October 2019, the European Commission endorsed the amendment to IFRIC 23 in Regulation 2018/1595. The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. It also provides guidance on how to account for current and deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Amendment to IAS 28: Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Venture

On 9 February 2019, the European Commission endorsed the amendment to IAS 28 in Regulation 2019/237. The amendment to IAS 28 extends the application of IFRS 9 (including the issue of impairment) to long-term borrowings from associates or joint ventures not accounted for using the equity method.

Amendment to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

On 13 March 2019, the European Commission endorsed the amendment to IAS 19 in Regulation 2019/402. This confirms that, following the amendment, curtailment or settlement of a defined-benefit plan, the entity must apply updated assumptions and remeasure its net defined benefit asset or liability for the remainder of the relevant period.

Improvements to IFRSs (2015-2017 Cycle)

On 14 March 2019, the European Commission published Regulation 2019/412 endorsing the annual improvements relating to the 2015-2017 cycle, containing minor amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23.

International financial reporting standards endorsed but not yet effective References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

On 29 November 2019, the European Commission published Regulation 2019/2075, endorsing the amendment to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. The amendment will come into effect from 1 January 2020. The main changes regard a new section on measurement, improved definitions and guidance, above all in relation to the definition of liabilities and clarification of concepts such as prudence and uncertainty in measurements.

Amendment to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

On 15 January 2020, the European Commission endorsed the amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, through Regulation 2020/34. The amendment provides a number of reliefs from application of specific hedge accounting requirements, with the aim of allowing entities to continue to use hedge accounting even during the period of uncertainty prior to the modification of hedged instruments, or of the related hedges, as provided for in the amendment.

The Group has opted for early adoption of the changes introduced by the amendment, which are obligatory from 1 January 2020, for the year ended 31 December 2019. Adoption of these requirements allows the Group to continue to apply hedge accounting in the period of uncertainty due to the interest rate benchmark reform. Within its hedge accounting relationships subject to the interest rate benchmark reform, the Group is exposed to the interest rates, EURIBOR and USD LIBOR.

The Group is closely monitoring the market and the results produced by various working groups in the sector that are managing the transition to the new benchmark rates, including announcements from regulators regarding the transition from LIBOR and SOFR (Secured Overnight Financing Rate) and from EURIBOR and ESTER (Euro Short-term Rate). The Group has also drawn up an IBOR transition programme with the aim of understanding which areas of business are exposed to IBOR, and preparing and delivering an action plan that will facilitate a smooth transition to the alternative rates. The Group aims to complete the transition and existing fallback plans by the end of 2020.

The various working group in the sector are working on the fallback language for a number of instruments and IBOR, a process the Group is carefully monitoring and will seek to implement at the appropriate time. The ISDA (International Swaps and Derivative Association) fallback provisions applicable to the Group's derivatives were made available at the end of 2019. The Group will begin discussions with its banks in order to adopt this language in ISDA agreements during 2020.

With regard to bonds linked to USD LIBOR, the Group will contact bondholders in 2020 to propose changes to the fallback provisions and switch from USD LIBOR to SOFR (Secured Overnight Financing Rate).

The risk exposure managed by the entity and that is directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform amounts to €2,923 million. The nominal value of the hedging instruments in these hedging relationships amounts to €5.394 million.

The Group will continue to apply the changes to IFRS 9 until the uncertainty surrounding the interest rate benchmark reform to which the Group is exposed, with specific regard to the timing and amount of the underlying cash flows, has been resolved. The Group expects the uncertainty to remain until the IBORlinked contracts have been modified to specify the date after which the benchmark interest rate will be replaced, cash flows linked to the new rate and the related spread adjustment. This is partly dependent on the introduction of the fallback provisions that have yet to be added to the Group's contracts and on the outcome of talks with lenders and bondholders.

International financial reporting standards awaiting endorsement

For newly-issued amendments, standards and interpretations that have not yet been endorsed by the EU, but which address issues that affect or could affect the Terna Group, assessments are currently being conducted of the possible impact of their application on the financial statements, taking into account the date on which they will take effect. In particular:

IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts

The new accounting standard for insurance contracts was published by the IASB on 18 May 2017, to replace the interim version of IFRS 4. The standard defines the new principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts. The General Model of reference is based on the discounting of expected cash flows, with the indication of a risk adjustment and upfront profits through the "contractual service margin", which cannot be negative.

Amendment to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business

Published by the IASB on 22 October 2018, the amendment to IFRS 3 provides a clearer definition of a business, giving guidance and illustrative examples for identifying when a group of assets constitutes a business, thereby falling within the scope of application of IFRS 3.

B. Notes to the consolidated income statement

Revenue

1. REVENUE FROM SALES AND SERVICES - €2.287.9 MILLION

Transmission charges billed to grid users Back-billing of transmission charges for previous years Other energy-related revenue and from services performed under concession Quality of service bonuses/(penalties) Other sales and services TOTAL

Transmission charges

The charges for use of the NTG regard the revenue attributable to the Parent (€1,724.4 million) and the subsidiary, Rete S.r.I. (€135.8 million) as owners and operators of the grid. The increase in revenue from the transmission service (up €71.1 million) is broadly due to the adjustment to the Group's WACC applied by Resolution 639/18 (up to 5.6% for the three-year period 2019-2021 from the 5.3% of the previous period 2016-2018), an increase in invested capital (RAB), the determination of revenue from the Italy-Montenegro Interconnector (ARERA Resolution 568/19) and the recognition of additional payments for energy-intensive storage systems (ARERA Resolution 169/19).

Other energy-related revenue and from services performed under concession

This item regards dispatching and metering revenue (essentially relating to €111.0 million for the dispatching component, €0.1 million for the metering component and other energy-related revenue of €1.8 million) and revenue from infrastructure construction and upgrade services performed under concession, recognised in application of IFRIC 12 (€59.9 million). This includes revenue from activities in South America (€27.9 million in Brazil and €4.4 million in Peru).

The reduction in "Other energy-related revenue and from services performed under concession" compared with 2018, totalling €89.5 million, is linked to reduced investment in assets held under concession in Brazil (down €64.4 million) following the entry into service between the end of last year and early 2019 of the two power lines built in the country (down €69.1 million), partially offset by investment by Linha Verde II (up €4.7 million), a company acquired towards the end of the year. The reduction also reflects a €30.2 million decrease in dispatching, metering and other revenue, due to ARERA's one-off recognition of certain expenses arising in the previous year.

OTHER ENERGY-RELATED REVENUE AND FROM SERVICES PERFORMED UNDER CONCESSION

Dispatching and metering revenue

Revenue from services performed under concession (IFRIC 12) - of which in Italv

- of which overseas

TOTAL OTHER ENERGY-RELATED REVENUE AND FROM SERVICES PERFORMED UNDER CONCESSION

		(€m)
2019	2018	CHANGE
1,859.5	1,789.1	70.4
0.7	-	0.7
172.8	262.3	(89.5)
20.2	7.4	12.8
234.7	213.7	21.0
2,287.9	2,272.5	15.4

1			(€m)
	2019	2018	CHANGE
	112.9	143.1	(30.2)
	59.9	119.2	(59.3)
	27.6	25.5	2.1
	32.3	93.7	(61.4)
	172.8	262.3	(89.5)

Quality of service bonuses/(penalties)

This item, amounting to €20.2 million, is up €12.8 million compared with the previous year, due mainly to assessment of the performance in 2018 (Resolution 521/2019/R/eel) and valuation of the performance in 2019, taking into account the estimated results expected overall for the regulatory period 2016-2020 (Resolution 653/2015).

Other sales and services

The item, "Other sales and services", amounting to €234.7 million, mainly regards revenue from Nonregulated Activities, regarding:

- the sale of transformers by the subsidiary, Tamini (€106.1 million);
- Energy Solutions (€37.7 million), including maintenance services, totalling €17.2 million and energy efficiency (€4.9 million), primarily attributable to the subsidiary Avvenia The Energy Innovator S.r.I., in addition to revenue from EPC contracts, totalling €15.7 million;

• Connectivity (€27.5 million) with specific regard to support and housing services for fibre networks.

This item also includes revenue from the private Italy- Montenegro Interconnector (€11.1 million) and Italy-France Interconnector (€7.2 million), representing the accrued portion of the revenue attributable to the Group for services provided during construction.

The item also includes revenue attributable to the Group's International Activities relating to construction of the power line in Uruguay, totalling €37.9 million.

The increase compared with 2018 (up €21.0 million) primarily reflects the following:

- revenue linked to the above Italy-Montenegro Interconnector project, totalling €11.1 million;
- an increase in revenue at the Tamini Group (up €6.5 million), primarily due to growth in the volume and value of the transformer produced in 2019:
- an increase in revenue from Energy Solutions (up €5.3 million), primarily due to the start-up of work in 2019 on the contract with Rete Ferroviaria Italiana - RFI relating to the installation of metering units (up €10.9 million), partly offset by the greater volume of work in progress in the previous year (down €6.2 million, essentially in relation to the construction of two electricity substations in the Lazio and Sardinia regions for a third-party customer, Macchiareddu, and nearing completion in 2019);
- increased revenue from connection services (up €1.1 million).

Pass-through revenue/expenses

This item regards "pass-through" revenue and expenses (the balance of which amounts to zero) attributable solely to the Parent Company. These items result from daily purchases and sales of electricity from electricity market operators. Measurements for each point of injection and withdrawal are taken and the differences, with respect to energy market schedules are calculated. These differences, known as imbalances, are then measured using algorithms established by the regulatory framework. The net charge resulting from calculation of the imbalances and the purchases and sales, carried out by the Parent Company Terna on the DSM, is billed on a pro rata basis to each end consumer via a specific uplift payment. This item also reflects the portion of the transmission charge that the Parent Company passes on to other grid owners, not included in the scope of consolidation.

The components of these transactions are shown in greater detail below:

Power Exchange-related revenue items

- Uplift
- Electricity sales
- Imbalances
- Congestion revenue
- Charges for right to use transmission capacity and market coupling
- Interconnectors/shippers
- Load Profiling for public lighting

- Other Power Exchange-related pass-through revenue items

Total over-the counter revenue items

- Transmission revenue passed on to other NTG owners
- Charge to cover cost of essential plants
- Charge to cover cost of energy delivery capacity
- Charge to cover cost of interruptibility service
- Charge to cover cost of LV capacity and protection service
- Other pass-through revenue for over-the-counter trades

TOTAL PASS-THROUGH REVENUE

- Total Power Exchange-related cost items
- Electricity purchases
- Imbalances
- Congestion revenue
- Charges for right to use transmission capacity and market coupling
- Interconnectors/Shippers
- Load Profiling for public lighting
- Other Power Exchange-related pass-through cost items

Total over-the-counter cost items

- Transmission costs passed on to other NTG owners
- Fees paid for essential units
- Fees paid for energy delivery capacity
- Fees paid for interruptibility service
- Fees paid for LV capacity and protection service

- Other pass-through costs for over-the-counter trades

TOTAL PASS-THROUGH COSTS

The total uplift cost in 2019, amounting to €1,963.4 million, is up €315.1 million, on the figure for the previous year, primarily reflecting the increased cost of procuring services on the DSM and a reduction in revenue resulting from imbalance costs.

		(€m)
2019	2018	CHANGE
3,957.9	3.860.1	97.8
1,963.4	1,648.3	315.1
538.8	523.1	15.7
485.7	506.2	(20.5)
295.8	331.1	(35.3)
353.0	337.8	15.2
75.3	75.2	0.1
81.1	66.8	14.3
164.8	371.6	(206.8)
1,362.2	1,311.7	50.5
5.0	4.8	0.2
412.4	392.6	19.8
206.7	277.6	(70.9)
306.0	279.5	26.5
340.0	276.2	63.8
92.1	81.0	11.1
5,320.1	5,171.8	148.3
3,957.9	3,860.1	97.8
2,609.7	2,496.5	113.2
425.6	331.6	94.0
209.4	217.1	(7.7)
152.0	136.1	15.9
307.3	366.8	(59.5)
100.9	80.5	20.4
153.0	231.5	(78.5)
1,362.2	1,311.7	50.5
5.0	4.8	0.2
412.4	392.6	19.8
206.7	277.6	(70.9)
306.0	279.5	26.5
340.0	276.2	63.8
92.1	81.0	11.1
5,320.1	5,171.8	148.3

2. OTHER REVENUE AND INCOME - €56.9 MILLION

				(€m)
		2019	2018	CHANGE
Insurance proceeds as compensation for damages		12.5	10.3	2.2
Sundry grants		9.4	8.4	1.0
Revenue from IRU contracts for fibre	I	7.8	10.7	(2.9)
Gains on sale of components of plant	i	5.6	3.8	1.8
Sales to third parties		3.5	3.5	-
Rental income		2.3	0.7	1.6
Other revenues	I	15.8	9.2	6.6
TOTAL		56.9	46.6	10.3

The most significant components of "Other revenue and income" primarily regard insurance proceeds (€12.5 million), sundry grants (€9.4 million), IRU contracts for fibre (€7.8 million) and other revenues (€15.8 million), primarily linked to penalties applied to suppliers for breaches of contract and other revenue.

This item, totalling €56.9 million, is up €10.3 million compared with the previous year, primarily due to an increase in penalties from suppliers, totalling €7.6 million, including €6.3 million received by the Brazilian subsidiary, Santa Lucia, in relation to the delay to the entry into service of the power line caused by a supplier. There was also an increase in insurance proceeds (up €2.2 million) and in gains on the sale of components of plan (up €1.8 million).

Operating costs

3. RAW AND CONSUMABLE MATERIALS USED - €142.8 MILLION

This item includes the value of the various materials and equipment used in the ordinary operation and maintenance of the plant belonging to the Group and third parties, and the materials consumed in the performance of contract work by the Tamini Group and in South America.

The reduction of €61.6 million compared with the previous year (€204.4 million in 2018 primarily reflects a decrease in costs relating to the development of operations in South America, recognised in application of IFRIC 12 (down €66.1 million), above all following the entry into service of two lines in Brazil between the end of last year and early 2019 (down €73.7 million), after an increase in work carried out in Peru (up €3.1 million) and the contribution from the new company, Linha Verde II, acquired in November 2019 (up €4.5 million). The costs incurred by the Tamini Group also rose (up €1.4 million).

4. SERVICES - €187.3 MILLION

			(€m)
	2019	2018	CHANGE
Maintenance and sundry services	102.3	91.9	10.4
Tender costs for plant	35.9	45.9	(10.0)
Insurance	13.9	10.9	3.0
IT services	12.9	13.0	(0.1)
Lease expense	11.2	17.2	(6.0)
Remote transmission and telecommunications	11.1	12.3	(1.2)
TOTAL	187.3	191.2	(3.9)

This item, totalling €187.3 million, is down €3.9 million compared with 2018 (€191.2 million). This primarily reflects a reduction in the cost of leases and rentals falling within the scope of IFRS 16 - Leases (down €6.0 million, largely relating to lease expense). There was also an increase in the cost of maintenance and sundry services (€10.4 million, above all attributable to the Tamini Group and general services). This was offset by a reduction in tender costs for plant (down €10.0 million, essentially due to cost savings and the greater volume of contract work carried out by third parties in the previous year in relation to Non-regulated Activities).

5. PERSONNEL EXPENSES - €256.7 MILLION

Salaries, wages and other short-term benefits
Directors' remuneration
Termination benefits (TFR) energy discounts and other employee benefits
Early retirement incentives
Gross personnel expenses
Capitalised personnel expenses
TOTAL

Personnel expenses, amounting to €256.7 million in 2019, are up €12.6 million primarily due to an increase in the average workforce for the year.

The following table shows the Group's workforce by category at the end of the year and the average for the year.

	AVERAGE WORKFO	AVERAGE WORKFORCE WORKFORCE AT		RCE AT
NUMBER	2019	2018	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
Senior managers	77	72	72	67
Middle managers	638	620	617	638
Office staff	2,373	2,144	2,382	2,290
Blue-collar workers	1,256	1,252	1,219	1,257
TOTAL	4,344	4,088	4,290	4,252

The net increase in the average workforce compared with 2018 is 256.

At 31 December 2019, the Terna Group's workforce breaks down as follows:

	TERNA SPA	terna Rete Italia Spa.	TERNA ENERGY SOLUTIONS SRL.	TERNA PLUS SRL	AVVENIA The Energy Innovator SRL	gruppo Tamini		SPE S.A.NTA MARIA TRANSMISSORA DE ENERGIA S.A.	SPE S.A.NTA LUCIA TRANSMISSORA DE ENERGIA S.A.	SPE TRASMISSORA DE ENERGIA LINHA VERDE II S.A.	TERNA PERU S.A.C	DIFEBAL S.A.	TOTAL
Number	607	3,170	52	43	17	351	10	2	16	7	8	7	4,290

6. AMORTISATION. DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES - €586.1 MILLION

TOTAL
Impairment losses on trade receivables
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- of which rights on infrastructure
Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses, amounting to €586.1 million (including €6.7 million recognised in application of IFRS16), are up compared with 2018 (up €32.0 million, including an increase of €22.8 million attributable to the Parent Company and €4.7 million and €2.0 million, respectively, attributable to the subsidiaries, Terna Rete Italia S.p.A. and Rete S.r.I.), primarily reflecting the entry into service of new plant and the fact that impairment losses on property, plant and equipment were higher in the previous year (€11.1 million lower in 2019).

			(€m)
_	2019	2018	CHANGE
	315.1	300.4	14.7
	1.9	2.2	(0.3)
	17.5	9.7	7.8
	(0.3)	-	(0.3)
	334.2	312.3	21.9
	(77.5)	(68.2)	(9.3)
	256.7	244.1	12.6

		(€m)
2019	2018	CHANGE
57.4	52.0	5.4
22.5	22.8	(0.3)
527.3	488.0	39.3
2.3	13.4	(11.1)
(0.9)	0.7	(1.6)
586.1	554.1	32.0

7. OTHER OPERATING COSTS - €16.8 MILLION

			(€m)
	2019	2018	CHANGE
Indirect taxes and local taxes and levies	(3.4)	6.8	(10.2)
Quality of service costs	0.6	5.1	(4.5)
of which mitigation and sharing mechanisms	0.3	3.1	(2.8)
of which the Fund for Exceptional Events	(0.1)	1.9	(2.0)
of which compensation mechanisms for HV users	0.4	0.1	0.3
Fees paid to regulators and membership dues	6.8	6.8	-
Adjustment of provisions for litigation and disputes	1.7	(2.6)	4.3
Losses on sales/disposal of plant and net contingent liabilities	0.8	4.8	(4.0)
Other	10.3	7.9	2.4
TOTAL	16.8	28.8	(12.0)

The Group's other operating costs, amounting to €16.8 million, are primarily attributable to the Parent Company (€7.7 million) and the Tamini Group (€2.9 million). They include indirect taxes, local taxes and levies (down €3.4 million, specifically linked to prior provisions made in relation to Land Registry Circular 6/2012), membership dues and fees paid to trade bodies and associations relating to the Group's activities (€6.8 million), the adjustment to provisions for litigation and disputes set aside to cover outstanding liabilities that, at the end of the year, could result from court judgements and out-of-court settlements regarding the Group's activities (€1.7 million) and other costs (€10.3 million), which include provisions risks and charges connected with the activities of the subsidiaries, Tamini and SPE Santa Lucia Trasmissora de energia S.A., donations and other expenses.

The reduction of €12.0 million reflects a decrease in indirect taxes, local taxes and levies (down €10.2 million), broadly due to an adjustment of the Group's provisions for taxation, as well as lower costs relating to quality of service (down €4.5 million), primarily due to the impact of outages and interruptions in 2018, partially offset by provisions for risks and charges recognised by the Brazilian subsidiary, totalling €2.3 million.

8. FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES) - (€81.0) MILLION

	1	(€m)
2019	2018	CHANGE
(0.3)	(3.0)	2.7
(96.3)	(101.0)	4.7
(0.4)	(0.7)	0.3
12.1	15.1	(3.0)
(5.8)	(7.5)	1.7
(1,6)	(1.2)	(0.4)
(92.3)	(98.3)	6.0
10.0	6.9	3.1
1.3	-	1.3
11.3	6.9	4.4
(81.0)	(91.4)	10.4
	(0.3) (96.3) (0.4) 12.1 (5.8) (1,6) (92.3) 10.0 1.3 11.3	(0.3) (3.0) (96.3) (101.0) (0.4) (0.7) 12.1 15.1 (5.8) (7.5) (1,6) (1.2) (92.3) (98.3) 10.0 6.9 1.3 -

Net financial expenses of €81.0 million are essentially attributable to the Parent Company (€69.3 million) and reflect €92.3 million in financial expenses and €11.3 million in financial income. The reduction in new financial expenses compared with 2018, amounting to €10.4 million, primarily reflects the following:

- a reduction in financial expenses on medium/long-term borrowings and the related hedges (€4.7 million) primarily due to a decline in short-term interest rates in 2019 and a fall in inflation recorded during the year, and the expenses paid to Cassa Depositi e Prestiti (€2.7 million) in order to repay the loan of €500 million in February 2019;
- a decrease in capitalised financial expenses (€3.0 million), linked to the above-noted fall in interest rates during the year;
- an increase in interest income and other financial income (€3.1 million), primarily reflecting an increase in liquidity invested during the year and the improved return on that liquidity.

9. SHARE OF PROFIT/(LOSS) OF INVESTEES ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD - €3.3 MILLION

This item, amounting to €3.3 million, reflects an increase of €0.7 million compared with last year (€2.6 million), broadly due to the positive impact of the adjustment of the Group's share of equity in the CESI group.

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE - €313.5 MILLION

Income tax for the year
Current tax expense:
- IRES (corporate income tax)
- IRAP (regional tax on productive activities)
Total current tax expense
New temporary differences:
- deferred tax assets
- deferred tax liabilities
Reversal of temporary differences:
- deferred tax assets
- deferred tax liabilities
Adjustment of IRES rate
Total deferred tax (income)/expense
Adjustments of taxes for previous years
Other one-off changes
TOTAL

Current income tax expense of €342.0 million is up €12.7 million compared with the previous year, essentially due to the increase in pre-tax profit.

Net deferred tax expense of €28.9 million is up €11.5 million, primarily linked to the impact on taxation of depreciation and amortisation and the movement in provisions for risks and charges and employee benefits.

Adjustments to taxes for previous years, amounting to -€1.2 million, reflect the overpayment of tax in previous years. The change compared with the 2018 (an increase of €14.6 million) is primarily attributable to the Parent Company. Other one-off changes (€1.6 million) regard provisions for tax risks.

The effective tax charge for the year (€313.5 million) results in a tax rate of 29.1% compared with a rate of 29.4% for 2018.

		(€m)
2019	2018	CHANGE
282.6	271.4	11.2
59.4	57.9	1.5
342.0	329.3	12.7
(21.9)	(18.4)	(3.5)
-	6.2	(6.2)
22.3	27.5	(5.2)
(29.3)	(32.7)	3.4
		-
(28.9)	(17.4)	(11.5)
(1.2)	(15.8)	14.6
1.6	-	1.6
313.5	296.1	17.4

For a clearer presentation of the differences between the theoretical and effective tax rates, the table below reconciles the profit before taxes with taxable income for IRES (corporate income tax) purposes.

		(€m)
	2019	2018
Profit before tax	1,077.4	1,007.7
THEORETICAL TAX CHARGE	258.6	241.8
IRAP	59.4	57.9
Permanent differences	(3.3)	5.9
Increased taxation paid by overseas companies	-	6.3
TAX (after adjustment for previous years and one-off changes)	313.1	309.2
TAX RATE	29.1%	30.7%
Adjustments of taxes for previous years	(1.2)	(15.8)
Other one-off changes	1.6	-
INCOME TAX EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR	313.5	296.1
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE	29.1%	29.4%
	i	

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share, which corresponds to diluted earnings per share, amounts to €0.377 (based on profit for the year attributable to owners of the Parent, totalling €757.3 million, divided by the number of shares outstanding, totalling 2,009,992.0 thousand).

C. Operating segments

In line with the Business Plan 2020-2024, and in compliance with IFRS 8, the Terna Group's identified operating segments are described below:

- Regulated
- Non-Regulated
- International

The Regulated segment includes the development, operation and maintenance of the National Transmission Grid, in addition to dispatching and metering, and the activities involved in the construction of storage systems. These activities have been included in one operating segment, as they are all regulated by ARERA and have similar characteristics, in terms of the remuneration model and the method for setting the related tariffs.

The Non-regulated segment includes deregulated activities and specific business initiatives, above all relating to the provision of services to third parties in the areas of Energy Solutions, consisting of the development of technical solutions and the supply of innovative services, including EPC (Engineering, Procurement and Construction) services, operation and maintenance of high-voltage and very high-voltage infrastructure, and the supply of energy efficiency services, broadly attributable to the subsidiary, Avvenia The Energy Innovator S.r.l.. This segment also includes Connectivity (support and housing services for fibre networks and IRU contracts for fibre. This segment also includes the activities carried out in relation to the private interconnectors launched by Law 99/2009, legislation that assigned Terna responsibility for selecting undertakings (the "selected undertakings"), on the basis of public tenders, willing to finance specific interconnectors in exchange for the benefits resulting from a decree granting a third-party access exemption with regard to the transmission capacity provided by the new infrastructure. The Non-regulated segment also includes the operations of the Tamini Group, relating essentially to the construction and commercialisation of electrical equipment, above all power transformers.

On the other hand, the International segment includes the results deriving from opportunities for international expansion, which the Group aims to exploit by leveraging its core competencies developed in Italy as a TSO, where such competencies are of significant importance in its home country. Overseas investment focuses on countries with stable political and regulatory regimes and a need to develop their electricity infrastructure. This segment includes the results of the two Brazilian companies, SPE Santa Lucia Trasmissora de Energia S.A. and SPE Santa Maria Trasmissora de Energia S.A., the Peruvian company Terna Peru S.A.C, the Uruguayan company Difebal S.A., the Chilean company Terna Chile S.p.A., the Brazilian company SPE Transmissora de energia Linha Verde II S.A., which was acquired during the year, and the Peruvian company Terna 4 Chacas S.A.C., established in August.

	1		(€m)
2015	2018	CHANGE	% CHANGE
IUE 2,055,0	1,989.6	65.4	3.3%
REVENUE 211.7	194.9	16.8	8.6%
VENUE* 28.4	12.5	15.9	127.2%
activities 49.7	122.1	(72.4)	(59.3%)
2,344.8	2,319.1	25.7	1.1%
G PROFIT (EBITDA)** 1,741.2	1,650.6	90.6	5.5%
EBITDA*** 1,657.5	1,586.5	71.0	4.5%
ated EBITDA 70.0	60.5	9.5	15.7%
I EBITDA 13.7	3.6	10.1	-
ment result with Group's pre-tax result			
G PROFIT (EBITDA) 1,741.2	1,650.6		
siation and impairment losses 586.1	554.1		
IT/(LOSS) (EBIT) 1,155.1	1,096.5		
penses) (81.0	(91.4)		
of investees accounted for using the equity method 3.3	2.6		
tax 1,077.4	1,007.7		

* Directly includes the margin earned on overseas concessions.

Gross operating profit - EBITDA is an indicator of operating performance, obtained by adding "Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses" to "Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT)".

*** EBITDA including indirect costs.

The group's revenue for 2019 amounts to €2,344.8 million, an increase of €25.7 million (1.1%) compared with 2018.

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) of €1,741.2 million is up €90.6 million (5.5%) on the €1,650.6 million of 2018.

Regulated EBITDA in Italy amounts to €1,657.5 million, an increase of €71.0 million compared with the previous year, primarily due to the increase in an increase in the WACC used in setting tariffs.

Non-Regulated EBITDA for 2019 amounts to €70.0 million, an increase of €9.5 million, broadly reflecting revenue linked to the private Italy-Montenegro Interconnector project.

International EBITDA for 2019 amounts to €13.7 million, an increase of €10.1 million compared with the previous year. This primarily reflects construction services provided in Brazil, where the related infrastructure fully entered service (up €6.5 million) from October 2018 and April 2019, and the completion of work in Uruguay on construction of the Melo-Tacuarembò line (up €4.6 million).

Information on the financial position periodically reported to senior management is not provided directly on the basis of each individual segment, but based on the measurement and presentation of gross invested capital as a whole, given that the contribution from Non-regulated and International Activities is not material. The following table shows this indicator at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

			(€m)
	31 DECEM	/IBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
Net non-current assets*	14,9	08.5	14,083.6
of which investments in associates and joint ventures		79.4	76.1
Net working capital**	(2,2)	07.8)	(1,822.5)
Gross invested capital***	12,7	00.7	12,261.1

* Net non-current assets include the value of "property, plant and equipment", "Goodwill", "Intangible assets", "Investments accounted for using the equity method", "Other non-current assets" and "Non-current financial assets", net of the value of fair value hedges (€45.0 million).

** Net working capital is the difference between total current assets less cash and the item, "Current financial assets", and total current liabilities, less the short-term portion of long-term borrowings and the items, "Short-term borrowings" and "Current financial liabilities", and the item, "Other non-current liabilities.

*** Gross invested capital is the sum of net non-current assets and net working capital.

D. Notes to the consolidated statement of financial position

Assets

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - €13,864.2 MILLION

	LAND	BUILDINGS	PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL EQUIPMENT	OTHER ASSETS	ASSETS UNDER CONST. AND PREPAYMENTS	TOTAL
COST AT 1 JANUARY 2019	200.7	1,941.1	17,410.6	108.1	155.9	1,854.4	21,670.8
Investments	8.6	24.2	4.5	4.7	4.9	1,136.0	1,182.9
of which right-of-use assets	8.2	22.9	-	-	3.5	-	34.6
of which finance leased assets	-	-	4,1	-	-	-	4,1
Assets entering service	0.7	107.6	1,106.0	4,6	11.2	(1,230.1)	-
Disposals and impairments	-	(3.2)	(78.6)	-	(2.3)	(0.6)	(84.7)
of which right-of-use assets	-	(0.4)	-	-	(0.1)	-	(0.5)
of which finance leased assets	-	-	(1.6)	-	-	-	(1.6)
Other movements	(0.2)	(4.0)	(27.7)	-	(0.2)	4.3	(27.8)
COST AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	209.8	2,065.7	18,414.8	117.4	169.5	1,764.0	22,741.2
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENTS AT 1 JANUARY 2019	-	(571.6)	(7,647.3)	(86.3)	(121.3)		(8,426.5)
Depreciation for the year	(1.0)	(52.7)	(454.6)	(5.4)	(13.6)	-	(527.3)
of which right-of-use assets	(1.0)	(4.6)	-	-	(1.1)	-	(6.7)
of which finance leased assets	-	-	(3.5)	-		-	(3.5)
Disposals	-	0.6	72.9	-	2.3	-	75.8
of which right-of-use assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	
of which finance leased assets	-	-	0.3	-	-	-	0.3
Other movements	-	(0.1)	1.0	-	0.1	-	1.0
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	(1.0)	(623.8)	(8,028.0)	(91.7)	(132.5)	-	(8,877.0)
Carrying amount							
AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	208.8	1,441.9	10,386.8	25.7	37.0	1,764.0	13,864.2
of which right-of-use assets	7.2	17.9	-	-	2.3	-	27.4
of which finance leased assets	-	0.6	27.5	-	1.5	-	29.6
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018	200.7	1,369.5	9,763.3	21.8	34.6	1,854.4	13,244.3
of which finance leased assets	-	0.6	28.2	-	1.5	-	30.3
Change	8.1	72.4	623.5	3.9	2.4	(90.4)	619.9

The category, "Plant and equipment" at 31 December 2019 includes the electricity transmission grid and transformer substations in Italy.

"Property, plant and equipment" is up €619.9 million, compared with the previous year, reflecting ordinary movements during the year as a result of:

- investments of €1,182.9 million during the year (including €34.6 million relating to right-of-use assets recognised in application of the new accounting standard IFRS16), of which €1,089.6 million invested in the Group's Regulated Activities and €93.3 million in Non-regulated Activities, primarily with regard to the private "Italy-France" and "Italy-Montenegro" Interconnectors;
- depreciation for the year of €527.3 million;
- other changes during the year, resulting in a reduction of €26.8 million, including grants related to assets (primarily in relation to projects financed by the Ministry for Economic Development and the EU) and disposals and impairments (down €8.9 million).

A summary of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year is shown below.

	(cn)
Investments	
- Power lines	621.6
- Transformer substations	465.5
- Storage systems	1.2
- Other	94.6
Total investment in property, plant and equipment	1,182.9
Depreciation for the year	(527.3)
Other changes	(26.8)
Disposals and impairments	(8.9)
TOTAL	619.9

The following information regards work on the principal projects during the year in relation to the Regulated Activities: progress on construction of the various cross-border interconnections, consisting of the power lines linking Italy and France (€61 million) and Italy and Montenegro (€28.8 million and entering service at the end of the year), progress with the "Functional separation" plan (€59.7 million), extension of the fibre network as part of the "Fibre for the Grid" project (€36.8 million), construction of the Brindisi Pignicelle - BR Eni Power power line (€18.4 million), the Sorrento Peninsula interconnector (€27.8 million) and the Belcastro and Brennero substations (€13.5 million and €10.3 million, respectively, with the latter entering service at the end of the year), the grid upgrade in the Foggia-Benevento area (€16.8 million) and reorganisation of the grids serving the cities of Naples (€10.3 million) and Rome (€9.7 million).

13. GOODWILL - €230.1 MILLION

Goodwill regards the Parent Company's acquisition of Terna Rete Italia S.r.l. in previous years, accounted for in the financial statements at a carrying amount of €101.6 million, the acquisition of RTL, with a carrying amount of €88.6 million, the acquisition of Rete S.r.I., with a carrying amount of €26.3 million, and the acquisition of TES- Transformer Electro Services within the Tamini Group, with a carrying amount of €13.6 million.

There are no changes in this item compared with the previous year.

Impairment testing

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to two cash generating units (CGUs): the first consisting of "Transmission activities" within the Group's Regulated Activities, amounting to €216.5 million, and the second relating to the "Production and commercialisation of transformers", forming part of the Group's Non-regulated Activities totalling €13.6 million.

Disclosures regarding the impairment testing of the goodwill allocated to the Group's "Transmission" CGU is provided below. Measurement of the recoverable value of the Group's "Transmission" CGU was based on the fair value less costs of disposal. This was determined taking into account Terna's share price at 31 December 2019, appropriately adjusted for the estimated fair value of assets and liabilities not attributable to the CGU that includes transmission activities.

The resulting value is significantly higher than the carrying amount inclusive of goodwill.

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS - €312.6 MILLION

(€m)

					(€m)
	INFRASTRUCTURE RIGHTS	CONCESSIONS	OTHER ASSETS	ASSETS UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND PREPAYMENTS	TOTAL
Cost	430.9	135.4	414.0	37.1	1,017.4
Accumulated amortisation	(330.3)	(73.7)	(324.1)	-	(728.1)
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018	100.6	61.7	89.9	37.1	289.3
Investment	4.3	-	0.6	76.3	81.2
Assets entering service	27.6	-	31.5	(59.1)	-
Disposals and impairments	-	-	(0,1)	-	(0,1)
Amortisation for the year	(22.5)	(5.6)	(29.3)	-	(57.4)
Other movements	-	-	(0,4)	(0,1)	(0,5)
Translation differences	0.1	-	-	-	0.1
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	110.1	56.1	92.2	54.2	312.6
Cost	462.8	135.4	441.5	54.2	1,093.9
Accumulated amortisation	(352.7)	(79.3)	(349.3)	-	(781.3)
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	110.1	56.1	92.2	54.2	312.6
Change	9.5	(5.6)	2.3	17.1	23.3

Intangible assets amount to €312.6 million (€289.3 million at 31 December 2018); this item includes:

- the infrastructure used in provision of the dispatching service in Italy and in activities in Peru, carried out under concession and accounted for in accordance with "IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements". The carrying amount of the former, at 31 December 2019, is €110.1 million, whilst the carrying amount of infrastructure under construction, included in the category "Assets under development and prepayments", is €32.5 million (at 31 December 2018, €100.6 million and €27.8 million, respectively);
- the concession for electricity transmission and dispatching activities in Italy (with a carrying amount of €56.1 million at 31 December 2019); this 25-year concession was recognised in 2005, initially at fair value and subsequently at cost.

Other intangible assets primarily include software applications, either produced internally or purchased as part of systems development programmes. Investment in these assets during the year, primarily attributable to the Parent Company (€40.9 million), essentially regard internal development programmes.

The increase compared with the previous year (up €23.3 million) broadly reflects the net effect of investment (up €81.2 million, including €27.8 million in infrastructure rights) and amortisation (down €57.4 million). Investment in intangible assets during the year (€81.2 million, including €68.7 million attributable to the Parent Company's Regulated Activities) included expenditure on the development of software applications for the Remote Management System for Dispatching (€11.8 million), the Power Exchange (€3.9 million), the Metering System (€0.7 million) and for protection of the electricity system (€3.5 million), as well as software applications and generic licences (€37.4 million).

15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS - €64.0 MILLION

					(€1
	31 DECEMBER 2018	PROVISIONS	USES AND OTHER MOVEMENTS	EFFECTS RECOGNISED IN COMPRE- HENSIVE INCOME	31 DECEMBER 2019
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES					
Property, plant and equipment	(82.7)	-	31.5	-	(51.2)
Other	(24.0)	-	(3.7)	-	(27.7)
Employee benefits and financial instruments	(3.1)	-	-	-	(3.1)
Total deferred tax liabilities	(109.8)	-	27.8	-	(82.0)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS					
Provisions for risks and charges	36.6	7.4	(12.0)	-	32.0
Allowance for doubtful accounts	3.8	-	-	-	3.8
Employee benefits	14.4	1.1	(3.2)	0.9	13.2
Cash flow hedges	14.6	-	-	33.3	47.9
Tax relief on goodwill	28.9	-	(5.5)	-	23.4
Other	14.8	13.4	(2.2)	(0.3)	25.7
Total deferred tax assets	113.1	21.9	(22.9)	33.9	146.0
NET DEFERRED TAX ASSETS	3.3	21.9	4.9	33.9	64.0

The balance of this item, amounting to €64.0 million, includes the net impact of movements in the Group's deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets (€146.0 million) are up by a net €60.7 million compared with 31 December 2018 (€113.1 million). These assets underwent the following movements during the year:

- net provisions that impact in comprehensive income, totalling €33.9 million, primarily reflecting the tax effect of movements in cash flow hedges and employee benefits;
- provisions recognised by the subsidiary Rete S.r.l., for the non-deductible portion of book depreciation recognised by the subsidiary (€2.7 million);
- use of the accrued portion recognised in relation to tax relief on the goodwill resulting from the merger of RTL with and into Terna Rete Italia S.r.I. and attributable to the Parent Company (€5.5 million);
- net uses of provisions for risks and charges (€5.1 million), primarily reflecting the impact on taxation of releases from the provisions relating to quality of service (€1.9 million) and for early retirements (€2.9 million);
- net uses of provisions for employee benefits (€2.1 million).

Deferred tax liabilities (€82.0 million) are down by a net amount of €27.8 million, essentially due to:

- the use of previous provisions for accelerated depreciation at the Parent Company, Terna (down €31.5 million);
- provisions and other net movements of €3.7 million, primarily following the recognition of deferred tax liabilities on the South American contracts.

16. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD - €79.4 MILLION

This item, amounting to €79.4 million, regards the Parent Company's investments in the associate CESI S.p.A. (€52.2 million), the associate CORESO S.A. (€0.5 million) and the associate CGES - CrnoGorski Elektroprenosni Sistem AD (€26.7 million).

The increase with respect to the previous year, amounting to €3.3 million, essentially reflects the adjustment of the Group's share of equity in the associate, Cesi S.p.A., at 31 December 2019.

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS

(€m)

1 DECEMBER 2019 180.4 225.8	31 DECEMBER 2018 167.8 61.1	CHANGE 12.6
225.8		
	61.1	
	01.1	164.7
45.0	-	45.0
0.1	0.1	-
451.3	229.0	222.3
513.3	402.6	110.7
4.2	-	4.2
0.1	1.3	(1.2)
1.7	0.6	1.1
519.3	404.5	114.8
	45.0 0.1 451.3 513.3 4.2 0.1 1.7	45.0 - 0.1 0.1 451.3 229.0 513.3 402.6 4.2 - 0.1 1.3 1.7 0.6

"Non-current financial assets" are up €222.3 million compared with the previous year, reflecting:

- the increase in investment during the year in infrastructure under concession in Brazil, recognised in application of IFRIC 12 (up €12.6 million);
- an increase in the Interconnector Guarantee Fund, set up to fund investment in interconnections by art. 32 of Law 99/09 (up €22.1 million) and an increase in the guarantee deposits received from operators participating in the capacity market in accordance with Resolution 98/2011/R/eel³¹ as amended (up €142.6 million);
- the recognition of €45.0 million in fair value hedges backing bond issues; this amount was computed by discounting expected cash flows based on the market interest rate curve at the reporting date.

"Current financial assets" are up €114.8 million compared with the previous year, primarily following the purchase of government securities totalling €500 million and the repayment, in December 2019, of government securities totalling €400 million.

18. OTHER ASSETS

Loans and advances to employees
Deposits with third parties
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other tax credits
Amounts due from associates
Prepayments to suppliers
Prepayments of operating expenses and accrued operating income
Amounts due from partners selected for Interconnector projects
Amounts due from others
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

			(€m)
_	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
	9.8	9.4	0.4
	6.1	5.4	0.7
	15.9	14.8	1.1
	23.2	44.1	(20.9)
	-	3,3	(3,3)
	10.2	13.4	(3.2)
	10.3	14.7	(4.4)
	3.7	4.0	(0.3)
	15.3	6.5	8.8
	62.7	86.0	(23.3)

³¹ Legislation governing the system for remunerating the provision of production capacity is contained in the Ministerial Decree of 28 June 2019. Deposits were paid by operators following the outcome of the auctions organised by Terna on 6 and 28 November 2019. They are to guarantee the entire capacity market with effect from 2022, whose aim is to ensure the adequacy of the national electricity system is achieved and maintained. This is necessary to ensure the system's structural ability to meet expected demand for electricity plus the reserve margin needed to provide determinate levels of security and quality of service.

"Other non-current assets" amount to €15.9 million and are up €1.1 million compared with the previous year. This is primarily due to an increase guarantee deposits paid under contracts with public bodies and authorities (up €0.7 million).

"Other current assets", totalling €62.7 million, are down €23.3 million compared with 31 December 2018, primarily reflecting:

- other tax credits (down €20.9 million), primarily reflecting the Group's refundable VAT (down €21.9 million), partly due to the tax authority's acceptance of the claim for refundable VAT filed in the annual return for 2018 (down €10.4 million);
- a reduction in prepayments to suppliers (down €3.2 million), mainly due to the prepayments made for work carried out in South America that began in the previous years (down €2.9 million);
- a reduction in expenses already paid for but accruing after 31 December 2019 (down €4.4 million), primarily referring to a reduction in prepayments following adoption of the new IFRS 16, which requires these items to be recognised when recognising right-of-use assets;
- a reduction in amounts due from the associate, CGES (down €3.3 million) following collection of the dividend declared at end of 2018;
- amounts due from others (up €8.8 million), broadly due to the Parent Company's recognition of insurance proceeds (up €1.9 million), receivables relating to the overseas subsidiary, Santa Lucia, and linked to the entry into commercial operation of the power line (up €2.5 million), other items to be settled in the following year (up €4.1 million) and amounts receivable in relation to connectivity activities (€1 million).

19. INVENTORIES - €50.9 MILLION

This item, amounting to €50.9 million, is down €12.5 million compared with the previous year. This primarily reflects the assets to be used to complete the Tamini Group's orders (down €11.8 million).

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES - €1,290.7 MILLION

			(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
Energy-related receivables	788.8	743.7	45.1
Transmission charges receivables	314.6	310.8	3.8
Other trade receivables	187.3	112.5	74.8
TOTAL	1,290.7	1,167.0	123.7

Trade receivables amount to €1,290.7 million at 31 December 2019 and are accounted for less any losses on items deemed not to be recoverable and recognised in the allowance for doubtful accounts (€25.2 million for energy-related receivables and €17.7 million for other items in 2019, compared with €26.1 million for energy-related items and €17.8 million for other items in 2018). The carrying amount shown broadly approximates to fair value.

Energy-related/regulated receivables - €788.8 million

This item includes so-called "pass-through items" relating to the Parent Company's activities in accordance with Resolution 111/06 (€758.3 million) and receivables due from the users of dispatching services forming part of Regulated Activities (€18.2 million). It also includes the amount due from the Fund for Energy and Environmental Services (Cassa per i Servizi Energetici e Ambientali - CSEA), based on the RENS performance for the year (€12.3 million).

The balance is up €45.1 million overall compared with the previous year, essentially due to energy-related pass-through receivables (€42.4 million). The increase reflects the impact of the amount due in the form of the uplift (€71.2 million), reflecting the increased cost incurred during the period, above all in December, for Dispatching Services Market (DSM) services and transactions and to imbalances (the related receivables are down €22 and €35.6 million, respectively). The change also reflects amounts due from the Fund for Energy and Environmental Services (Cassa per i Servizi Energetici e Ambientali - CSEA) to settle fees for dispatching points with LV connections pursuant to art. 25 of the Settlement Code (€27 million).

Transmission charges receivable - €314.6 million

Transmission charges receivable, amounting to €314.6 million, represent the amount due to the Parent Company and other grid owners from electricity distributors for use of the National Transmission Grid. The receivable is up €3.8 million compared with 31 December 2018, primarily due to the rise in income resulting from the increase in the tariff.

Other trade receivables - €187.3 million

Other trade receivables primarily regard amounts receivable from customers of the non-regulated business. These amounts derive from the provision of specialist services to third parties, primarily in relation to plant engineering services, the operation and maintenance of high-voltage and very high-voltage infrastructure, and the housing of telecommunications equipment and maintenance services for fibre networks, as well as in relation to the Tamini Group's contract work.

This item is up €74.8 million compared with the previous year, broadly due to the increased amount due on the contract completed in Uruguay (up €37.9 million), the non-regulated activities carried out by the Parent Company and the subsidiary, TRI SPA (€17.8 million and €13.5 million, respectively) and the Tamini Group's contract work (up €5.3 million).

The following table shows receivables resulting from contract work in progress (€134.2 million), being carried out by the Group under multi-year contracts with third parties:

						(€m)
	PRE- PAYMENTS	VALUE OF CON-TRACT	BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	PREPAY- MENTS	VALUE OF CON-TRACT	BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
Receivables resulting from contract work in progress	(1.8)	136.0	134.2	(14.1)	98.7	84.6

The Group's receivables resulting from contract work in progress are up €49.6 million, on the previous year, primarily in relation to the contract in Uruguay (up €36.2 million) and increased contract work carried out by the subsidiary, Terna Rete Italia S.p.A. (up €9.5 million).

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - €1,057.4 MILLION

Cash amounts to €1,057.4 million, at 31 December 2019, including €647.4 million invested short-term. Readily convertible deposits and €410.0 million deposited in bank current accounts.

22. INCOME TAX ASSETS - €5.2 MILLION

Income tax assets, amounting to €5.2 million, are down €14.1 million compared with the previous year, due to the transfer of IRES and IRAP tax credits from previous years (down €9.6 million) and the use of IRES and IRAP tax credits used to settle payments on account for 2019 (down €4.5 million).

Equity and liabilities

23. EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT - €4,190.3 MILLION

Share capital - €442.2 million

The Parent Company's share capital consists of 2,009,992,000 ordinary shares with a par value of €0.22 per share.

Legal reserve - €88.4 million

The legal reserve accounts for 20% of the Parent Company's share capital.

Other reserves - €593.3 million

The other reserves have decreased by €106.8 million compared with the previous year, primarily as a result of other comprehensive income. This reflects:

- fair value adjustments to the Parent Company's cash flow hedges (down €105.3 million, taking into account the related tax asset of €33.3 million);
- the recognition of actuarial gains and losses on provisions for employee benefits (losses of €2.1 million, taking into account the related taxation of €0.9 million).

Retained earnings and accumulated losses - €2,478.3 million

The increase in "Retained earnings and accumulated losses", amounting to €238.2 million, primarily regards the remaining portion of the Group's profit for 2018, following the Parent Company's payment of the dividend for 2018 (totalling €468.7 million).

Interim dividend for 2019

On 13 November 2019, the Parent Company's Board of Directors, having obtained the Independent Auditor's opinion required by article 2433-bis of the Italian Civil Code, decided to pay an interim dividend of €0.0842 per share, amounting to a total payout of €169.2 million. The dividend was payable from 20 November 2019, with an ex-dividend date for coupon 31 of 18 November 2019.

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests, relating to the non-controlling shareholders of the Tamini Group, Terna Interconnector S.r.I., Avvenia The Energy Innovator S.r.I. and SPE Transmissora de energia Linha Verde II S.A. (consolidated for the first time during the year), amounts to €41.6 million, an increase of €6.6 million compared with 31 December 2018.

This change primarily reflects the profit reported by Terna Interconnector S.r.I. (€6.0 million).

24. BORROWINGS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Bond issues
Bank borrowings
LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Cash flow hedges
NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
Bond issues
Bank borrowings
CURRENT PORTION OF LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL

Borrowings and financial liabilities are up €247.5 million compared with the previous year to €9,880.3 million.

The increase in bond issues (up €1,194.1 million) is due to three fixed-rate euro-denominated bond issues launched in 2019, amounting to €1,250 million and described in the section "Financial resources" and repayment, in October, of the €600 million bond issue launched on 3 July 2009. The change also reflects the adjustment of the amortised cost of all the bonds in issue.

The latest official prices at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 for the bonds listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange are detailed below:

			(€m)
	ISIN	PRICE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	PRICE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
bond maturity 2019:	XS0436320278	n/a**	103.62
bond maturity 2021:	XS0605214336	105.93	109.79
bond maturity 2022:	XS1178105851	101.90	100.64
bond maturity 2023:	XS0328430003	128.94*	127.61*
bond maturity 2023:	XS1858912915	103.11	100.17
bond maturity 2024:	XS0203712939	122.79	120.51
bond maturity 2025:	XS2033351995	98.86	n/a**
bond maturity 2026:	XS1371569978	107.08	103.52
bond maturity 2026:	XS1980270810	103.18	n/a**
bond maturity 2027:	XS1652866002	105.83	94.53
bond maturity 2028:	XS1503131713	102.87	89.83

Source: BNP Paribas and Bloomberg.

Not applicable.

Compared to the previous year, bank borrowings have decreased by €428.4 million, due mainly to the following: - repayment, on 2 February 2019, of the €500 million loan from CDP, using EIB funds;

- repayments of principal on existing EIB loans (down €111.3 million);
- new EIB loans drawn down in June, totalling €46.4 million;
- new loans obtained by the Brazilian subsidiaries, totalling €101.8 million;
- lease liabilities recognised following first-time adoption of IFRS 16 (€24.5 million).

			(€m)
_			
	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
	7,757.3	6,563.2	1,194.1
	1,723.4	1,664.4	59.0
	9,480.7	8,227.6	1,253.1
	160.4	59.2	101.2
	160.4	59.2	101.2
	25.0	25.0	-
	-	616.7	(616.7)
	126.5	613.9	(487.4)
	126.5	1,230.6	(1,104.1)
	87.7	90.4	(2.7)
	9,880.3	9,632.8	247.5

- drawdown of the final tranche of the loan granted to the Uruguayan subsidiary, totalling €13.1 million;

Long-term borrowings

The following table shows movements in long-term debt during the period, including the nominal amount:

(£m)

	31 C	ECEMBER 20	18	IMPACT OF	REPAYMENTS	DRAWDOWNS	OTHER	ER CHANGE IN 31 DECEMBER 2019 CARRYING	31 DECEMBER 2019		019
	NOMINAL	CARRYING AMOUNT	FAIR VALUE	IFRS 16 AT 1 JAN 2019	AND CAPITALISATIONS			AMOUNT	NOMINAL DEBT	CARRYING AMOUNT	FAIR VALUE
Bonds maturing 2024	800.0	982.9	964.1	-	-	-	(30.8)	(30.8)	800.0	952.1	982.3
IL bond	579.0	679.2	638.1	-	-	-	(20.1)	(20.1)	579.0	659.1	746.5
Private Placement 2019	600.0	616.7	621.7	-	(600.0)	-	(16.7)	(616.7)	-	-	-
Private Placement 2026	80.0	78.9	82.8	-	-	-	0.2	0.2	80.0	79.1	85.7
Bonds maturing 2021	1,250.0	1,345.9	1,372.4	-	-	-	(43.2)	(43.2)	1,250.0	1,302.7	1,324.1
Bonds maturing 2022	1,000.0	997.6	1,006.4	-	-	-	0.7	0.7	1,000.0	998.3	1,019.0
Bonds maturing 2025	-	-	-	-	-	500.0	(5.3)	494.7	500.0	494.7	494.3
Bonds maturing 2026	-	-	-	-	-	500.0	(2.2)	497.8	500.0	497.8	515.9
Bonds maturing 2028	750.0	740.9	673.7	-	-	-	24.0	24.0	750.0	764.9	771.5
Bonds maturing 2027	1,000.0	993.2	945.3	-	-	-	20.4	20.4	1,000.0	1,013.6	1,058.3
Bonds maturing 2023	750.0	744.6	751.3	-	-	250.0	0.4	250.4	1,000.0	995.0	1,031.1
Total bond issues	6,809.0	7,179.9	7,055.8	-	(600.0)	1,250.0	(72.6)	577.4	7,459.0	7,757.3	8,028.7
Borrowings	2,285.3	2,278.3	2,301.2	21.4	(616.3)	158.3	8.2	(428.4)	1,831.2	1,849.9	1,878.3
of which leases	-	-	-	21.4	(2.6)	-	5.7	24.5	-	24.5	-
Total borrowings	2,285.3	2,278.3	2,301.2	21.4	(616.3)	158.3	8.2	(428.4)	1,831.2	1,849.9	1,878.3
Total debt	9,094.3	9,458.2	9,357.0	21.4	(1,216.3)	1,408.3	(64.4)	149.0	9,290.2	9,607.2	9,907.0

At 31 December 2019, the Terna Group has access to additional financing of €2,650.0 million, represented by two revolving credit facilities entered into in September 2018 and April 2019. In addition, the Group has uncommitted bank credit lines totalling approximately €825 million and approximately €496 million in loans agreed but not yet disbursed.

In addition, as provided for in IFRS 7, the table shows the fair value of borrowings and bond issues. In the case of bond issues, this is market value based on prices at the reporting date, whilst variable rate loans are measured by discounting expected cash flows based on the market interest rate curve at the reporting date.

The following table shows an analysis of bond issues and other borrowings by maturity, showing the related short-term portions.

													(€m)
	MATURITY	31 DECEMBER 2018*	31 DECEMBER 2019*	PORTION FALLING DUE WITHIN 12 MONTHS	PORTION FALLING DUE AFTER 12 MONTHS	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	AFTER	AVERAGE INTEREST RATE 2019	AVERAGE NET INTEREST RATE 2019
	2019	616.7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	4.88%	1.18%
	2021	1,345.9	1,302.7	-	1,302.7	1,302.7		-	-	-	-	4.75%	1.21%
	2022	997.6	998.3	-	998.3	-	998.3		-	-	-	0.88%	0.95%
	2023	679.2	659.1	-	659.1	-	-	659.1	-	-	-	2.73%	(0.65%)
	2023	744.6	995.0	-	995.0	-	-	995.0		-	-	1.00%	1.15%
Bonds	2024	982.9	952.1	-	952.1	-	-	-	952.1		-	4.90%	0.87%
	2025	-	494.7	-	494.7	-	-	-	-	494.7	-	0.13%	0.31%
	2026	78.9	79.1	-	79.1	-	-	-	-	-	79.1	1.60%	1.80%
	2026	-	497.8	-	497.8	-	-	-	-	-	497.8	1.00%	1.22%
	2027	993.2	1,013.6	-	1,013.6	-	-	-	-	-	1,013.6	1.38%	1.02%
	2028	740.9	764.9	-	764.9	-	-	-	-	-	764.9	1.00%	0.62%
EIB		368.6	368.6	-	368.6	4.6	20.5	20.5	20.5	20.5	282.0	1.45%	1.45%
Difebal borrowings		-	38.2	1.5	36.7	1.5	1.5	1.8	1.9	2.1	27.9	4.88%	4.88%
Total fixed rate		7,548.5	8,164.1	1.5	8,162.6	1,308.8	1,020.3	1,676.4	974.5	517.3	2,665.3		
EIB	2030	1,355.9	1,291.1	116.1	1,175.0	112.2	112.8	114.0	115.3	115.3	605.4	0.23%	1.76%
CDP	2019	500.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.63%	0.63%
Brazilian companies' borrowings	2042	-	102.0	4.5	97.5	3.3	3.5	3.5	3.6	3.6	80.0	7.52%	7.52%
Difebal borrowings	2034	56.9	30.7	1.5	29.2	1.9	1.9	2.2	2.4	2.6	18.2	4.93%	4.93%
Total variable rate		1,912.8	1,423.8	122.1	1,301.7	117.4	118.2	119.7	121.3	121.5	703.6		
TOTAL		9,461.3	9,587.9	123.6	9,464.3	1,426.2	1,138.5	1,796.1	1,095.8	638.8	3,368.9		

* The balance does not include deferred fees of €5.7 million at 31 December 2019 and €5.5 million at 31 December 2018.

	31 DECEMBER 2018	31 DECEMBER 2019	PORTION FALLING DUE WITHIN 12 MONTHS	PORTION FALLING DUE AFTER 12 MONTHS
Finance leases	2.4	0.5	0.3	0.2
Operating leases	-	24.5	2.6	21.9
TOTAL	2.4	25.0	2.9	22.1

At 31 December 2019, payments on operating leases recognised in application of IFRS 16 amount to €2.6 million.

The total value of the Terna Group's borrowings at 31 December 2019 is €9,587.9 million (€123.6 million falling due within 12 months and €9,464.3 million falling due after 12 months), of which €3,368.9 million maturing after five years.

Non-current financial liabilities - €160.4 million

		L	(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
Cash flow hedges	160.4	59.2	101.2
TOTAL	160.4	59.2	101.2

Non-current financial liabilities, amounting to €160.4 million, reflect the fair value of cash flow hedges at 31 December 2019.

Fair value was measured by discounting the expected cash flows using the market yield curve at the reporting date. The increase of €101.2 million compared with 31 December 2018 reflects the change in the market interest rate curve and the change in the notional value of the derivatives portfolio.

Short-term borrowings - €25.0 million

There is no change in "Short-term borrowings" compared with the figure for the previous year.

Current financial liabilities - €87.7 million

Current financial liabilities at 31 December 2019 include the value of net interest expense accrued on financial instruments and not yet paid. This item is down €2.7 compared with the previous year.

	-			(€m)
		31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
DEFERRED LIABILITIES ON:				
Hedging derivatives		2.6	2.3	0.3
Bond issues		83.6	85.9	(2.3)
Borrowings		1.5	2.2	(0.7)
TOTAL		87.7	90.4	(2.7)

(€m)

Net debt

Pursuant to the CONSOB Communication of 28 July 2006 and in compliance with Recommendation ESMA no. 319 of 2013, the Group's net debt is as follows:

(€m)

	(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019
A. Cash	410.0
B. Term deposits	647.4
C. Cash and cash equivalents (A) + (B)	1.057,4
D. Current portion of non-current borrowings	126.5
E. Short-term borrowings	25.0
F. Other net financial liabilities	81.8
G. Current financial assets	513.3
H. Current debt (D+E+F+G)	(280.0)
I. Current net debt (H) - (C)	(1,337.4)
J. Non-current borrowings	1,723.4
K. Bond issues	7,757.3
L. Derivative financial instruments held in portfolio	115.3
M. Non-current net debt (J) + (K) + (L)	9,596.0
N. Net debt (I) + (M)	8,258.6

Default risk and debt covenants

This risk is associated with the possibility that the loan agreements or bond terms and conditions to which the Group is a party may contain provisions that, if certain events occur, authorise counterparties to call in such loans immediately, thereby generating liquidity risk.

Certain long-term loans obtained by the Parent Company, Terna S.p.A., contain covenants that are typical of international practice. The principal covenants relate to:

- the Company's bond issues, which consist of an €800.0 million issue in 2004 and nine issues as part of its EMTN Programme (the "€ 8,000,000,000 Medium Term Notes Programme");
- bank borrowings, consisting of two revolving line of credit of €1,150 million and €1,500 million ("bank debt"):
- a series of loans to the Company from the European Investment Bank (EIB), amounting to a total of €1.659.8 million.

The main covenants relating to the bond issues and the EMTN Programme involve clauses regarding i) "negative pledges", on the basis of which the Issuer or its Relevant Subsidiaries undertake not to create or maintain mortgages, pledges or other encumbrances on their assets or revenue, to guarantee listed bonds (with the exception of certain "permitted guarantees"); ii) "pari passu", on the basis of which the securities constitute a direct, unconditional and unsecured obligation by the Issuer, ranking equally among them and with at least the same level of seniority as other present and future unsecured and non-subordinated borrowings of the Issuer; iii) "event of default", on the basis of which if certain predetermined events occur (e.g., failure to make a repayment, the liquidation of the Issuer, the breach of contractual obligations, a crossdefault, etc.) a situation of default is established and the loan is immediately called in.

The main covenants relating to bank borrowings involve clauses related to i) negative pledges, on the basis of which the Issuer or the Relevant Subsidiaries undertake not to create or maintain guarantees on their assets to secure borrowings, with the exception of "permitted guarantees"; ii) pari passu on the basis of which the Borrower's payment obligations in relation to the loan agreements in question are not subordinated to any obligation related to other unsecured and non-subordinated creditors, without prejudice to privileges under the law; iii) "event of default", on the basis of which if certain predetermined events occur (e.g. failure to make a repayment, serious inaccuracies in documents and/or declarations, insolvency, business discontinuation, substantially prejudicial effects, the breach of contractual obligations, including pari passu conditions, a cross-default, etc.) a situation of default is established and the loan is immediately called in; iv) accelerated repayment should the rating fall below investment grade (BBB-) for the majority of rating agencies or should the Company cease to be rated by at least one agency.

The main covenants related to the EIB loans involve clauses related to i) negative pledges, on the basis of which the Company cannot create encumbrances, with the exception of encumbrances granted in relation to borrowings below given amounts and under contractually specified circumstances; ii) the provision to the Bank, at its request, of new guarantees should ratings below BBB+/Baa1 be assigned by two ratings agencies out of three, or in the event that all of the agencies cease to publish ratings; iii) pari passu, on the basis of which the Company ensures that payment obligations rank equally with those related to all other unsecured, non-subordinated creditors; iv) cases of contract termination/application of the call provision/ withdrawal (e.g. failure to make a repayment, serious inaccuracies in documents and/or declarations, insolvency, events that have a negative impact on financial commitments made by the Company, extraordinary administration, liquidation, substantial prejudicial changes, the breach of contractual commitments, etc.); v) accelerated loan payment following the occurrence of given events (e.g. change of control over the Company, loss of the concession, extraordinary corporate events, etc.). To date, no covenant has been breached.

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - €63.9 MILLION

The Group provides its employees with benefits during their period of employment (loyalty bonuses), on termination of employment (TFR, additional months' pay and payment in lieu of notice) and after termination in the form of post-employment benefits (ASEM health cover). Loyalty bonuses are payable to the Group's employees and senior managers once certain requirements have been met regarding length of service (on completing 25 and 35 years of service). Termination benefits (TFR) are payable to all employees, whilst employees hired by 30 June 1996 receive energy discounts, senior managers recruited or appointed before 28 February 1999 receive payment in lieu of notice and employees (blue-collar workers, office staff and middle managers) employed prior to 24 July 2001 are due additional months' pay on termination. Post-employment benefits consist of a form of supplementary health cover in addition to that provided by the Italian national health service, as provided for in the national collective contract for industrial managers (the ASEM health plan).

The following table shows the composition of provisions for TFR and other employee benefits and movements during the year ended 31 December 2019.

						(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2018	PROVISIONS	INTEREST COST	USES AND OTHER MOVEMENTS	ACTUARIAL GAINS/ (LOSSES)	31 DECEMBER 2019
Benefits during the period of employment						
Loyalty bonuses	4.7	0.6	0.1	(1.1)	-	4.3
Total	4.7	0.6	0.1	(1.1)	-	4.3
Termination benefits						
Deferred compensation benefits (TFR)	43.7	-	0.5	(6.7)	1.5	39.0
Energy discounts	5.3	-	0.1	(1.2)	(0.5)	3.7
Additional months' pay	6.9	0.4	-	(1.4)	0.3	6.2
Payment in lieu of notice and other similar	0.2	-	-	(0.1)	-	0.1
Total	56.1	0.4	0.6	(9.4)	1.3	49.0
Post-employment benefits						
ASEM health plan	8.6	0.3	0.1	(0.2)	1.8	10.6
Total	8.6	0.3	0.1	(0.2)	1.8	10.6
TOTAL	69.4	1.3	0.8	(10.7)	3.1	63.9

This item, amounting to €63.9 million at 31 December 2019, is down €5.5 million compared with the previous year. This is primarily attributable to net uses and other movements (down €10.7 million), above all for TFR, additional months' pay and energy discounts), relating essentially to employees who have opted to take part in the generational turnover plan, partially offset by actuarial gains and losses (up €3.1 million).

The following table shows the current service cost and interest income and expense.

							(EI
	LOYALTY BONUSES	TFR	ADDITIONAL MONTHS' PAY	PAYMENT IN LIEU OF NOTICE AND OTHER SIMILAR	ENERGY DISCOUNTS	ASEM HEALTH COVER	TOTAL
Net impact recognised in profit or loss							
- current service cost	0.6	-	0.4	-	-	0.3	1.3
- curtailment (revenue) and other costs	(0.8)	-	(1.3)	(0.1)	-	-	(2.2)
- interest income and expense	0.1	0.5	-	-	0.1	0.1	0.8
TOTAL RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS	(0.1)	0.5	(0.9)	(0.1)	0.1	0.4	(0.1)

(€m)

Revaluation of the net liability for employee benefits is shown in the following table, which provides details of the type of actuarial gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income.

					(€m
	TFR	ADDITIONAL MONTHS' PAY	ENERGY DISCOUNTS	ASEM HEALTH COVER	TOTAL
Actuarial gain/losses					
- based on past experience	(0.2)	0.1	(0.2)	1.1	0.8
- due to changes in demographic assumptions	-	-	-	-	-
- due to changes in other economic assumptions	-	-	-	(0.2)	(0.2)
- due to changes in discount rate	1.7	0.2	(0.3)	0.9	2.5
TOTAL IMPACT ON OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	1.5	0.3	(0.5)	1.8	3.1

Finally, the following tables show the main actuarial assumptions applied, a sensitivity analysis of movements in the assumptions and the payment schedule for the plan. In line with 2018, the interest rate used to determine the present value of the obligation was calculated on the basis of the yield on the lboxx Eurozone Corporates AA index at 31 December 2019, matching the duration of the relevant group of plan participants.

	LOYALTY BONUSES	TFR	ADDITIONAL MONTHS' PAY	PAYMENT IN LIEU OF NOTICE AND OTHER SIMILAR	ENERGY DISCOUNTS	ASEM HEALTH COVER
Discount rate	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Inflation rate	1.50%	1.50%	0.00%	1.50%	1.50%	3.00%
Duration (in years)	10.6-13	9.7-26.2	4.5-7.2	4.00	7-10.9	15.7-36.3

VALTY	TFR	ADDITIONAL	PAYMENT	ENERGY	40514	
		Months' Pay	IN LIEU OF NOTICE AND OTHER SIMILAR	DISCOUNTS	ASEM HEALTH COVER	TOTAL
4.1	38.4	5.9	0.1	3.6	10.2	62.3
4.4	40.2	6.0	0.1	3.8	11.1	65.6
4.4	40.0	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	44.4
4.2	38.6	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	42.8
n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	18.5	18.5
n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	7.0	7.0
	4.4 4.4 4.2 n/a	 4.4 40.2 4.4 40.0 4.2 38.6 n/a n/a 	4.4 40.2 6.0 4.4 40.0 n/a 4.2 38.6 n/a n/a n/a n/a	4.4 40.2 6.0 0.1 4.4 40.0 n/a n/a 4.2 38.6 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a	4.4 40.2 6.0 0.1 3.8 4.4 40.0 n/a n/a n/a 4.2 38.6 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a	4.4 40.2 6.0 0.1 3.8 11.1 4.4 40.0 n/a n/a n/a n/a 4.2 38.6 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 18.5

							()
	LOYALTY BONUSES	TFR	ADDITIONAL MONTHS' PAY	PAYMENT IN LIEU OF NOTICE AND OTHER SIMILAR	ENERGY DISCOUNTS	ASEM HEALTH COVER	TOTAL
By the end of 2019	0.4	2.2	1.4	-	0.4	0.3	4.7
By the end of 2020	0.5	2.0	0.7	-	0.2	0.3	3.7
By the end of 2021	0.3	2.6	0.5	-	0.3	0.3	4.0
By the end of 2022	0.1	2.2	0.5	-	0.3	0.3	3.4
By the end of 2023	0.4	2.2	0.4	-	0.3	0.4	3.7
After 5 years	2.6	27.8	2.7	0.1	2.2	9.0	44.4
TOTAL	4.3	39.0	6.2	0.1	3.7	10.6	63.9

26 - PROVISIONS FOR RISK AND CHARGES - €210.3 MILLION

				(€m
	PROVISIONS FOR LITIGATION AND DISPUTES	PROVISIONS FOR SUNDRY RISKS AND CHARGES	PROVISIONS FOR EARLY RETIREMENT INCENTIVES	TOTAL
Amount at 31 December 2018	19.0	169.0	53.4	241.4
Provisions	3.0	39.4	-	42.4
Uses and other movements	(2.4)	(61.0)	(10.1)	(73.5)
Amount at 31 December 2019	19.6	147.4	43.3	210.3

Provisions for litigation and disputes - €19.6 million

These provisions, set aside to cover outstanding liabilities that, at the end of the year, could result from court judgements and out-of-court settlements regarding the activities of Group companies, have been assessed partly on the basis of recommendations from internal and external legal advisors. The provisions are up €0.6 million compared with the previous year, reflecting higher net provisions during the year.

Provisions for sundry risks and charges - €147.4 million

These provisions are down by a net €21.6 million compared with the previous year, reflecting:

- a net increase of €6.8 million compared with the higher provisions made in the previous year for urban and environmental redevelopment schemes;
- a reduction of €17.8 million due to an adjustment to the provisions for taxation;
- a net reduction of €9.0 million in provisions linked to regulation of the quality of the electricity service (the mitigation and sharing mechanism introduced by ARERA Resolution 653/2015/R/eel) which, after provisions for estimated penalties linked to outages during the year, reflects payments to distribution companies and releases following final determination of the penalties due to previous years.

(€m)

Provisions for early retirement incentives - €43.3 million

Provisions for early retirement incentives reflects the estimated extraordinary expenses to be incurred in relation to the cost of the scheme for the year, linked to the early retirement of Group employees who have reached pensionable age. This item has decreased by a net €10.1 million, reflecting payments during the year in relation to the existing plan for generational turnover.

27. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - €834.9 MILLION

This item, amounting to €834.9 million at 31 December 2019, regards accrued grants related to assets receivable by the Parent Company (€84.8 million), in addition to payments on account received in relation to construction of the private Italy-Montenegro and Italy-France Interconnectors (totalling €520.4 million). This item also includes the guarantee deposits received from operators participating in the capacity market in accordance with Resolution 98/2011/R/eel (€142.6 million), in addition to the Interconnector Guarantee Fund set up by Terna S.p.A. following the issue of the 2016 Stability Law (€87.1 million), in order to fund investment in interconnections by art. 32 of Law 99/09.

The increase in this item compared with the previous year, amounting to €461.1 million, essentially reflects the recognition of payments on account received from the entities financing the private Italy-Montenegro and Italy-France Interconnectors (a total increase of €302.8 million), the guarantee deposits received from operators participating in the capacity market in accordance with Resolution 98/2011/R/eel (up €142.6 million) and an increase in the Interconnector Guarantee Fund (up €21.9 million).

28. CURRENT LIABILITIES

			(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
Short-term borrowings*	25.0	25.0	-
Current portion of long-term borrowings*	126.5	1,230.6	(1,104.1)
Trade payables	2,445.2	2,539.6	(94.4)
Tax liabilities	11.8	5.1	6.7
Current financial liabilities*	87.7	90.4	(2.7)
Other current liabilities	325.4	239.7	85.7
TOTAL	3,021.6	4,130.4	(1,108.8)

* Information on these items is provided in note 24, "Borrowings and financial liabilities".

TRADE PAYABLES - €2,445.2 MILLION

			(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
Suppliers:			
- Energy-related payables	1,358.8	1,518.1	(159.3)
- Non-energy-related payables	1,054.9	978.9	76.0
Amounts due to associates	8.6	8.2	0.4
Payables resulting from contract work in progress	22.9	34.4	(11.5)
TOTAL	2,445.2	2,539.6	(94.4)

Suppliers

Energy-related/regulated payables

The reduction of €159.3 million in this item compared with the end of 2018 essentially reflects energy-related pass-through payables (down €158.4 million). This is primarily due to:

- during the year, as required by ARERA³².
- a reduction in net payables linked to plants that are essential for the security of the electricity system -UESS (down €94.9 million) reflecting items collected during the period after payments ordered by ARERA in 2019³³;

partly offset by

• an increase in payables linked to items deriving from the execution of dispatching contracts for purchases and sales for the purpose of injecting and withdrawing electricity, linked primarily to costs incurred on the Dispatching Services Market - DSM (€41.6 million).

Non-energy-related payables

The exposure to suppliers regards invoices received and to be received for contract work, services and purchases of materials and equipment.

The balance at 31 December 2019 (€1,054.9 million) is up €76.0 million on the previous year, largely due to increased capital expenditure towards the end of the year.

Amounts due to associates

This item, amounting to €8.6 million, is up 0.4 million on the previous year and regards amounts payable to the associate CESI S.p.A., for services provided primarily to the Parent Company (€2.2 million) and to the subsidiary Terna Rete Italia S.p.A. (€5.9 million), relating to electro technical studies and research.

Payables resulting from contract work in progress

Payables resulting from contract work in progress, amounting to €22.9 million at 31 December 2019, are down €11.5 million on the figure for 31 December 2018 (€34.4 million), essentially reflecting the Tamini Group's contract work in progress (€11.7 million). This item breaks down as follows.

						(€m)
	PREPAYMENTS	VALUE OF CONTRACT	BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019	PREPAYMENTS	VALUE OF CONTRACT	BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
Payables resulting from contract work in progress	(40.5)	17.6	(22.9)	(45.8)	11.4	(34.4)

The carrying amount of trade payables broadly approximates to fair value. The commitments assumed by the Group towards suppliers amount to approximately €2,068.8 million and regard purchase commitments linked to the normal "operating cycle" projected for the period 2020-2024.

TAX LIABILITIES - €11.8 MILLION

This item amounts to €11.8 million at 31 December 2019, compared to a balance of €5.1 million at the end of 2018 (up €6.7 million). This essentially reflects an increase in tax payable for the year after payments on account paid during the period (mainly due to the increase in pre-tax profit).

• a decrease in payables relating to capacity payments (down €115.3 million) as a result of payments made

³² ARERA ordered capacity payments to be made in resolutions 30, 206 and 233/2019. ³³ ARERA ordered payments to the owners of essential plants in the following resolutions in 2019: 48-79-101-111-118-150-

^{194-205-235-342-434-459-460-475-476-505-506-523-524-525.}

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES - 325.4 MILLION

R 9	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE	
9	69.7	(2.8)	
9	7.4	14.5	
5	25.0	0.5	
2	41.6	9.6	
9	96.0	63.9	
4	239.7	85.7	
	.9 .5 .2 .9 .4	.5 25.0 .2 41.6 .9 96.0	

Prepayments

This item (€66.9 million) regards grants related to assets collected by the Group (€61.6 million attributable to the Parent Company, €3.3 million to Rete S.r.I. and €2.0 million to Terna Rete Italia S.p.A.) to fund the construction of non-current assets in progress at 31 December 2019.

Compared with the balance at 31 December 2018 (€69.7 million), this item is down €2.8 million, essentially due to the net impact of grants deducted directly from the carrying amount of the related assets, totalling €27.3 million, and new prepayments received from third parties, primarily the Ministry for Economic Development.

Other tax liabilities

Other tax liabilities, amounting to €21.9 million, are up €14.5 million compared with the previous year. This primarily reflects VAT payable by the Group (up €11.4 million), as well as an increase in council tax payable by the Parent Company (€2.1 million).

Social security payables

Social security payables, essentially relating to contributions payable to INPS (the National Institute of Social Security) by the Parent Company and the subsidiary Terna Rete Italia S.p.A., amount to €25.5 million. The figure is down compared with the previous year of €0.5 milion, broadly due to reduced contributions payable on staff incentives. This item also included the amount payable to the Fondo Previdenza Elettrici - F.P.E. (the Electricity Industry Pension Fund), amounting to €3.4 million (€3.5 million at 31 December 2018).

Amounts due to personnel

Amounts due to personnel, amounting to €51.2 million, essentially regard the Parent Company and the subsidiary Terna Rete Italia S.p.A.. They primarily relate to:

- incentives payable in the subsequent year (€23.2 million);
- amounts due to employees in the form of accrued and unused annual leave and bank holiday entitlements (€12.3 million);
- benefits payable to personnel leaving the Company by 31 December 2019 (€11.9 million).

This item is up €9.6 million, primarily due to an increase in amounts payable to personnel who have opted to take part in the current generational turnover plan (up €10.6 million), partially offset by a decrease in other incentives payable to personnel in the following year (down €1.7 million).

Other payables due to third parties

Other payables due to third parties, amounting to €159.9 million, primarily regard guarantee deposits (€107.3 million) received from electricity market operators to guarantee their contractual obligations under dispatching and virtual interconnection contracts. This item also includes deferred income (€11.8 million, primarily attributable to the Group's non-regulated business).

This item is up by a total of €63.9 million, essentially due to an increase in guarantee deposits collected during the year, totalling €39.9 million, and recognition of a refund due from the tax authority and awaiting settlement (up €26.7 million), linked to the acquisition of Rete S.r.I. (December 2015).

E. Commitments and risks

Risk management

The Group's financial risk

In the course of its operations, the Terna Group is exposed to different financial risks: market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.

This section provides information regarding the Terna Group's exposure to all the above risks, along with a presentation of the objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to assess them, with further quantitative disclosures concerning the separate financial statements for 2019. The Group's risk management policies seek to identify and analyse the risks that Group companies are exposed to, establishing appropriate limits and controls and monitoring the risks and compliance with such limits. These policies and the related systems are reviewed on a regular basis, in order to take account of any changes in market conditions or in the companies' operations. The Terna Group's exposure to the aforementioned risks is substantially represented by the exposure of the Parent Company. As a part of the financial risk management policies approved by the Board of Directors, Terna has established the responsibilities and operating procedures for financial risk management, specifically as concerns the instruments to be used and the precise operating limits to apply in managing them.

						(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019			31 DECEMBER 2018		
	AMORTISED COST	FAIR VALUE	TOTAL	AMORTISED COST	FAIR VALUE	TOTAL
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments	-	45.1	45.1	-	1.3	1.3
Cash on hand and government securities	1,057.4	513.3	1,570.7	1,328.9	402.6	1,731.5
Trade receivables	1,290.7	-	1,290.7	1,167.0	-	1,167.0
TOTAL	2,348.1	558.4	2,906.5	2,495.9	403.9	2,899.8

		1				(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019			31 DECEMBER 2018		
	AMORTISED COST	FAIR VALUE	TOTAL	AMORTISED COST	FAIR VALUE	TOTAL
Liabilities						
Borrowings	9,607.2	-	9,607.2	9,458.2	-	9,458.2
Derivative financial instruments	-	160.4	160.4	-	59.2	59.2
Trade payables	2,445.2	-	2,445.2	2,539.6	-	2,539.6
TOTAL	12,052.4	160.4	12,212.8	11,997.8	59.2	12,057.0

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument may fluctuate as a result of changes in financial market conditions. Market risk includes three types of risk: exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and inflation risk.

Risk management must be performed with the objective of minimising the related risks by selecting counterparties and instruments compatible with the Company's Risk Management Policy. Speculative activity is not part of the Parent Company's activities.

The Terna Group seeks to adopt a dynamic approach to financial risk management. This approach is characterised by risk aversion, aimed at minimising risk through continuous monitoring of financial markets in order to obtain new financing and conclude hedging transactions in favourable market conditions. The

dynamic approach enables the Group to intervene in order to improve existing hedges should there be a change in market conditions or changes in the hedged item, making the hedges inappropriate or excessively costly.

The fair value of financial instruments is determined in accordance with the fair value hierarchy envisaged under IFRS 7 (Level 2), by means of appropriate valuation techniques for each category of financial instrument, using market data at the closing date (such as interest rates, exchange rates and volatility) and discounting projected cash flows on the basis of the market yield curve at the reporting date.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is represented by the uncertainty associated with interest rate fluctuations. This is the risk that a change in market interest rates may produce effects on the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments.

In the course of its operations, the Group is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in interest rates. Its main source of interest rate risk is associated with its borrowings and the related hedges in the form of derivative instruments that generate financial expenses. The borrowing strategy focuses on long-term borrowings, whose term reflects the useful life of the Group's assets. It pursues an interest rate risk hedging policy that aims to guarantee that percentage of debt represented by fixed rate liabilities is at least 40%, as provided for in the relevant policies. At the end of 2019, 81% of the Group's is fixed rate.

At 31 December 2019, interest rate risk is hedged by fair value hedges and cash flow hedges, which hedge the risk connected with movements in interest rates relating to long-term borrowings.

Below are the notional amounts and fair values of the derivative financial instruments entered into by the Terna Group:

						(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019		31 DECEMBER 2018		CHANG	È
	NOTIONAL	FAIR VALUE	NOTIONAL	FAIR VALUE	NOTIONAL	FAIR VALUE
Fair value hedges	1,600.0	45.0	-	-	1,600.0	45.0
Cash flow hedges	3,794.5	(160.4)	3,246.3	(59.2)	548.2	(101.2)

The notional amount of outstanding cash flow hedges at 31 December 2019, amounting to 3,794.5 million, breaks down as follows:

- €1,223.5 million (fair value loss of €12.8 million) maturing 2021;
- €1,250.0 million (fair value loss of €71.0 million) maturing 2027;
- €1,300.0 million (fair value loss of €75.2 million) maturing 2028;
- \in 21.0 million (fair value loss of \in 1.4 million), relating to the subsidiary, Difebal, maturing 2032.

The notional amount of fair value hedges at 31 December 2019, amounting to €1,600.0 million, breaks down as follows:

- €850.0 million (fair value gain of €20.3 million) maturing 2027;
- €750.0 million (fair value gain of €24.7 million) maturing 2028.

Sensitivity to interest rate risk

As regards the management of interest rate risk, following the restructuring of its portfolio, Terna has floatingto-fixed interest rate swaps (cash flow hedges) in place to hedge the risk associated with expected future cash flows.

Since the hedging relationship between the derivative and the hedged item is formally documented and the effectiveness of the hedge, as verified initially and periodically over its life, is high, the Company has elected to use hedge accounting to ensure a perfect match between the maturities of the hedge and the hedged item. The aim of hedge accounting is to recognise the effects of the hedges and the hedged items in profit or loss at the same time. Accordingly, in the case of cash flow hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivative must be recognised in "Other comprehensive income" (recognising any ineffective portion immediately through profit or loss) and then recycled through profit or loss in the same period in which the cash flows of the hedged instrument materialise. The characteristics of cash flow hedges mirror those of the underlyings, with the timing of the related cash flows matching the timing of interest payments on the debt, without changes in fair value having any impact on profit or loss.

The following table reports the amounts recognised through profit or loss and in "Other comprehensive income" for positions that are sensitive to changes in interest rates, in addition to the theoretical value of the positions following a positive or negative shift in the yield curve and the differential impact of such changes recognised through profit or loss and in "Other Comprehensive Income". A hypothetical 10% movement in interest rates with respect to market interest rates at the reporting date was assumed:

						(Eni	
	PF	PROFIT OR LOSS			OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME		
	CURRENT RATES +10%	CURRENT AMOUNTS	CURRENT RATES -10%	CURRENT RATES +10%	CURRENT AMOUNTS	CURRENT RATES -10%	
31 December 2019							
Positions sensitive to interest rate variations (FVHs, bond issues, CFHs)	2.4	5.4	8.4	(98.8)	(101.2)	(103.7)	
Hypothetical change	(3.0)	-	3.0	2.4	-	(2.4)	
31 December 2018							
Positions sensitive to interest rate variations (FVHs, bond issues, CFHs)	-	-	-	(48.5)	(59.2)	(69.9)	
Hypothetical change	-	-	-	10.7	-	(10.7)	

Inflation risk

As regards inflation risk, the rates established by the regulator to provide a return on Terna S.p.A.'s activities are determined so as to cover the allowed costs. Such cost components are updated on an annual basis to take into account the impact of inflation. Having used an inflation-linked bond issue in 2007, the Company has put in place an effective hedge of net income; in fact, any decrease in expected revenue due to a decrease in the inflation rate would be offset by lower financial expenses.

Exchange rate risk

The management of exchange rate risk must aim to protect a company's earnings from the risk of currency fluctuations by keeping a close eye on market movements and constantly monitoring the existing exposures. In managing this risk, Terna from time to time selects hedging instruments with structures and durations matching the Group's exchange rate exposure. The instruments used by Terna are of limited complexity, highly liquid and easy to price, such as forwards and options. Such contracts have a notional amount and maturity date less than or equal to that of the underlying financial liability, or the expected cash flows, so that any change in the fair value and/or estimated cash flows deriving from a rise or fall in the euro against other currencies is fully offset by a corresponding change in the fair value and/or estimated cash flows of the underlying position.

At 31 December 2019, the Group's exposure to the impact of exchange rate risk on its profit or loss is residual and linked to foreign currency cash flows from the subsidiary, Tamini. At 31 December 2019, this exposure is managed using foreign currency derivatives with a notional value of 10.0 million US dollars and registering fair value gains of €0.1 million.

(Cm)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Terna Group might encounter difficulty in discharging its obligations in respect of its financial liabilities and operating cycle. Liquidity risk management seeks to ensure adequate coverage of borrowing requirements by obtaining adequate credit lines and appropriate management of any surplus liquidity. At 31 December 2019, the Terna Group had available short-term credit lines of approximately €825 million and revolving credit lines of €2,650 million.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk a customer or one of the counterparties to a transaction in financial instruments could cause a financial loss by failing to discharge an obligation. It is mainly generated by the Group's trade receivables and financial investments.

The credit risk originated by open positions on transactions in derivatives is considered to be marginal since the counterparties, in compliance with the financial risk management policies adopted, are leading international banks with high ratings.

Terna provides its services essentially to counterparties considered solvent by the market, and therefore with a high credit standing, and does not have high concentrations of credit risk.

Credit risk management is driven by the provisions of ARERA Resolution 111/06, which, in art. 49, introduced instruments designed to limit the risks related to the insolvency of dispatching customers, both on a preventive basis and in the event of an actual insolvency. In particular, the Resolution establishes three instruments to safeguard the electricity market: a guarantee system (bank guarantees provided by individual dispatching customers, based on their turnover); the option of terminating dispatching contracts (in the event of insolvency or failure to replace enforced guarantees); and, finally, the possibility of recovering uncollected debts, after having taken all other possible collection actions, through a specific fee to be fixed by ARERA.

The following table summarises the exposure to such risk at the reporting date:

		(€m)	
	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018	CHANGE
Fair value hedges	45.0	-	45.0
Cash and cash equivalents	1,057.4	1,328.9	(271.5)
Trade receivables	1,290.7	1,167.0	123.7
TOTAL	2,393.1	2,495.9	(102.8)

The total value of the exposure to credit rate risk at 31 December 2019 is represented by the carrying amount of trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents and fair value hedges.

The following tables provide qualitative information on trade receivables regarding the geographical distribution and type of customer.

GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION

			(€m)
	31 DECE	MBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
Italy	1,	146.7	1,076.0
Euro-area countries		27.6	19.9
Other countries		116.4	71.1
TOTAL	1,:	290.7	1,167.0

CUSTOMER TYPE

TOTAL	
Sundry receivables	
Parties which have signed virtual import contracts and vi (interconnectors and shippers)	irtual import servic
Dispatching customers for withdrawals (non distributors))
Dispatching customers for injections	
CSEA	
Distributors	

The following table breaks down customer receivables by due date, showing any potential impairment.

				(€m)
	31 DECEMBE	31 DECEMBER 2019		R 2018
	IMPAIRMENT	GROSS	IMPAIRMENT	GROSS
Current	(0.7)	1,149.6	(0.4)	1,009.7
0-30 days past due	-	13.5	(0.1)	8.4
31-120 days past due	(0.1)	9.6	(0.4)	7.7
Over 120 days past due	(42.1)	160.9	(43.0)	185.1
TOTAL	(42.9)	1,333.6	(43.9)	1,210.9

Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts in the course of the year were as follows.

Balance at 1 January
Release of provisions
Impairments for the year
BALANCE

The value of guarantees received from eligible electricity market operators is illustrated below.

Dispatching - injections Dispatching - withdrawals Transmission charges due from distributors Virtual imports BALANCE

		(€m)
	31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
	313.5	309.8
	88.9	114.0
	169.9	200.8
	517.8	408.9
3	12.8	13.7
	187.8	119.8
	1,290.7	1,167.0

	(€m)
31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
(44.1) 2.3 (1.1)	(45.6) 2.5 (0.8)
(42.9)	(43.9)

	(€m)
31 DECEMBER 2019	31 DECEMBER 2018
236.1	233.7
1,109.4	1,099.6
313.7	305.0
104.3	84.0
1,763.5	1,722.3

In addition, Non-regulated Activities are exposed to "counterparty risk", in particular in relation to the entities with which sales contracts are entered into, in consideration of the credibility and solvency of the parties in question and the impact that their possible insolvency could have on the financial strength of the business. Counterparty risk is mitigated by implementing special procedures to assess counterparties, measuring operating, financial and reputational aspects of the counterparties in question.

Default risk and debt covenants

This risk is associated with the possibility that the loan agreements or bond terms and conditions to which the Parent Company is a party may contain provisions authorising counterparties to call in such loans immediately upon the occurrence of certain events, thereby generating liquidity risk. More information on the contractual provisions of outstanding borrowings at 31 December 2019 is provided in the section, "Borrowings and financial liabilities" in the notes to the Terna Group's consolidated financial statements.

Bank guarantees

Banks have issued guarantees to third parties on behalf of Group companies which, at 31 December 2019, amount to €255.5 million. This amount breaks down as follows: €93.5 million on behalf of Terna S.p.A., €43.9 million on behalf of Terna Rete Italia S.p.A., €39.2 million on behalf of Terna Interconnector S.r.I., €42.9 million on behalf of Santa Lucia S.A., €22.6 million on behalf of Santa Maria S.A., €6.2 million on behalf of Difebal S.A., €3.4 million on behalf of Rete S.r.I., €2.7 million on behalf of Terna Perù S.A.C., €0.7 million on behalf of Terna Energy Solutions S.r.I., €0.3 million on behalf of Avvenia The Energy Innovator S.r.I., €0.1 million on behalf of Terna Cile S.p.A. and €65.3 million on behalf of Tamini Trasformatori S.r.I..

Litigation

The main commitments and risks not disclosed in the statement of financial position at and for the year ended 31 December 2019, relating to the Parent Company Terna, its subsidiary Terna Rete Italia S.p.A. and the Tamini Group companies, are described below. There are no significant commitments or risks for the other subsidiaries at that date.

Environmental and urban planning litigation

Part of environmental litigation deriving from the construction and operation of Terna's power plants, consists of legal actions taken against the alleged negative effects of electric and magnetic fields generated by power lines. In general, this litigation necessarily involves the Parent Company, which owns the infrastructure in question. Moreover, it cannot be ruled out that the parties concerned may also initiate legal proceedings against the subsidiary Terna Rete Italia S.p.A., as the electromagnetism generated by power lines relates not only to ownership of the plant, but also to its operation and the quantity and quality of electricity it transports. Regarding this matter, it should be noted that the issue of the Cabinet Office Decree of 8 July 2003 - which specifically set the values of the three parameters (exposure limits, safety thresholds and quality targets) provided for in Framework Law 36 of 22 February 2001, which electricity infrastructure must comply with led to a significant reduction in any such litigation. Other environmental and urban planning disputes, which do not relate to electromagnetic fields, are also pending with regard to Terna S.p.A.. These disputes are connected with the operation of certain Terna-owned plant, which in the event of an unfavourable outcome could also generate immediate effects for Terna Rete Italia S.p.A. (to date unforeseeable and therefore not included in "Provisions for litigation and sundry risks"), both as the entity appointed by Terna S.p.A. to build the related infrastructure and as the entity responsible for its operation. In particular, charges may arise for Terna Rete Italia S.p.A. connected with changes to the infrastructure involved in such disputes and its temporary unavailability. However, after examination of the disputes in question by Terna S.p.A. and external counsel appointed by the Company, it appears that the possibility of any negative outcomes is remote.

A legal action is pending with regard to the new 380kV "Udine West - Redipuglia" power line and the related works, which entered service two years ago. If the legal challenges brought by local councils and/or private parties were to be successful, and the related consents cancelled, this could have an impact on operation of the infrastructure.

Litigation regarding the legitimacy of construction permits and plant operations

Another aspect of litigation connected with the plant owned by the Parent Company derives from legal actions brought before the competent administrative courts, aimed at obtaining the annulment of decisions granting consent for the construction and operation of infrastructure.

Litigation relating to activities carried out under concession

As the operator of transmission and dispatching activities since 1 November 2005, the Parent Company has been a party in a number of court cases, most of which have contested determinations adopted by ARERA (Italy's Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and the Environment), and/or the Ministry for Economic Development, and/or Terna, in relation to these activities. In cases in which the plaintiffs have, in addition to inherent defects in the contested determinations, alleged violation of the regulations laid down by the aforementioned authorities, or in cases in which the determination has had an impact on Terna, the Company has also taken action to defend its interests through the legal system. Within the scope of such litigation - even though some cases have been concluded, at first and/or second instance, with the annulment of ARERA's resolutions and, when applicable, of the consequent determinations adopted by Terna - any negative outcomes for the Company itself may be deemed unlikely, as these disputes normally relate to pass-through items.

Litigation regarding supply contracts

This litigation only refers to Tamini Group companies and relates to supply contracts entered into between Tamini Group companies and its customers, regarding the supply of transformers and/or the related components.

It also concerns certain claims for damages brought against companies, regarding alleged damage caused by machinery and/or components supplied by them.

With regard to these judgements, it is impossible to exclude, in absolute terms, any unfavourable outcomes. Where such outcomes are deemed likely, specific accruals are made to the provisions for risks and charges.

Risk Covid-19

Further details of the impact of the Covid-19 emergency on the Terna Group's activities are provided in the section, "Events after 31 December 2019".

F. Business combinations

There were no business combinations in 2019.



G. Related party transactions

Given that Terna S.p.A. is subject to the de facto control of Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A., a situation ascertained in 2007, related party transactions entered into by Terna during the year include transactions with the associates (Cesi S.p.A., Coreso S.A. and CGES) and employee pension funds (Fondenel and Fopen), as well as transactions with Cassa Depositi e Prestiti itself, with CDP Reti S.p.A. and with the companies directly or indirectly controlled by the Ministry of the Economy and Finance ("MEF").

Given that Terna Group companies and the companies directly or indirectly controlled by the Ministry of the Economy and Finance meet the definition for classification as "government-related entities", in accordance with IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures, the Group has elected to adopt the partial exemption - permitted by the standard - from the disclosure requirements in respect of other companies controlled, influenced or jointly controlled by the same government entity. The remainder of this section provides qualitative and quantitative disclosures on transactions with government-related entities having a significant impact on the Group's results. Amounts relating to pass-through items are not included in these disclosures. Related party transactions in 2019 broadly regard the provision of services in the course of ordinary activities and conducted on an arm's length basis.

The nature of sales to and purchases from related parties by the Terna Group is shown below, followed by details of the revenue and costs resulting from such transactions during the year and the related assets and liabilities outstanding at 31 December 2019.

RELATED PARTY	REVENUE-GENERATING TRANSACTIONS	COST-GENERATING TRANSACTIONS
Parent		
Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A.		Credit facilities.
Associates		
Cesi S.p.A.	Rental income on laboratories and other similar facilities for specific uses, dividends.	Technical studies and consultancy, research, design and experimentation.
CORESO S.A.		Technical coordination service for the TSO.
Other related parties		
GSE Group	Metering charge, dispatching charge.	Rental of spaces and workstations.
Enel Group	Transmission charge and aggregation of meter readings, dispatching charge, leases and rentals, power line maintenance, movement /re-routing of power lines, housing of fibre cable and maintenance of communications carried over proprietary power lines.	Recovery of energy discount, building services, MV power to new substations, specialist services for connection to Terna's control and protection systems.
Ferrovie Group	Dispatching charge, movement of power lines.	Right-of-way fees.
ENI Group	Dispatching charge.	Contributions for NTG connections, sundry services.
ANAS S.p.A.	Movement /re-routing of power lines.	Right-of-way fees.
Open Fiber S.p.A.	IRU agreements for fibre.	Provision of services for the rental of fibre.
Fondenel and Fopen		Pension contributions payable by the Terna Group.
Other related parties of the MEF	Sundry service.	
Ansaldo Energia S.p.A.	Infrastructure maintenance.	

	REVENUE CO	COST COM	PONENTS	
	TRANSMISSION CHARGE AND OTHER REVENUE FROM REGULATED ACTIVITIES	NON-ENERGY-RELATED ITEMS		
De facto parent				
Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A.	-	-	-	0.4
Total de facto parent	-	-	-	0.4
Associates:				
Cesi S.p.A.	-	0.2	-	2.1
CORESO S.A.	-	-	-	2.4
Total associates	-	0.2	-	4.5
Other related parties:				
GSE Group	16.7	0.1	-	0.1
Enel Group	1,588.5	7.7	-	0.3
ENI Group	6.1	2.4	-	0.5
Ferrovie Group	2.2	2.3	-	11.7
Anas S.p.A.	-	-	-	0.2
Fintecna	-	0.1	-	-
Ansaldo Energia S.p.A.	-	1.4	-	-
Poste Italiane Group	-	-	-	0.1
Snam Rete Gas S.p.A.	-	0.1	-	-
Open Fiber S.p.A.	-	9.6	-	-
Other related parties of MEF	-	0.3	-	0.1
Total other related parties	1,613.5	24.0	-	13.0
Pension funds:				
Fondenel	-	-	-	0.5
Fopen	-	-	-	2.3
Total pension funds	-	-	-	2.8
TOTALE	1,613.5	24.2	-	20.7

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	AND AND OTHER AND OTHER		CASH	GUARANTEES*	
	CAPITALISED COSTS	OTHER	OTHER OTHER			
De facto parent						
Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A.	-	-	0.1	-	-	
Total de facto parent	-	-	0.1	-	-	
Associates:						
Cesi S.p.A.	12.8	0.1	8.4	-	-	
CORESO S.A.	-	-	0.2	-	-	
Total associates	12.8	0.1	8.6	-		
Other related parties:						
GSE Group	0.3	2.8	-	-	-	
Enel Group	8.5	404.4	32.0	-	595.5	
ENI Group	-	2.9	2.8	-	42.1	
Ferrovie Group	3.3	3.7	30.9	-	24.5	
ANAS S.p.A.	0.2	0.2	0,2	-	-	
Fintecna S.p.A.	-	0.1	-	-	-	
Ansaldo Energia S.p.A.	20.0	1.7	27.4	-	0.7	
Open Fiber S.p.A.	-	7.3	2.2	-	-	
Poste Italiane Group	-	-	0.1	-	-	
Other related parties of MEF	0.2	-	0.1	0.1	-	
Total other related parties	32.5	423.1	95.7	0.1	662.8	
Pension funds:						
Fopen	-	-	2.0	-	-	
Total pension funds	-	-	2.0		-	
TOTAL	45.3	423.2	106.4	0.1	662.8	

* Guarantees regard surety bonds received from contractors.

(fm)
(CIII)

H. Significant non-recurring, atypical or unusual events and transactions

With the exception of the instances described above, no significant non-recurring, atypical or unusual events or transactions, involving either third or related parties, took place in 2019.

I. Notes to the statement of cash flows

Cash flow from continuing operations amounts to €1,295.4, with approximately €1,746 million in operating cash flow and an outflow of approximately €450.6 million generated by changes in net working capital.

The cash outflow for investing activities totals €1,295.4 million, and above all regards €1,121 million relating to investment in property, plant and equipment, €81.2 million invested in intangible assets and €12.1 million in capitalised financial expenses.

The net cash outflow for shareholder transactions amounts to €475.2 million, due primarily to payment of the final dividend for 2018 (€310.5 million) and the interim dividend for 2019 (€169.2 million).

As a result, net cash used in investing activities and to provide a return on equity during the year amounted to €1,649.4 million, for the most part covered by cash flow from continuing operations of €1,295.4 million. The remainder was funded through the use of cash reserves.

Net debt has risen by €359.2 million compared with the previous year.

The following table shows the reconciliation of net changes deriving from financing activities in the statement of cash flows:

				(€m
	31 DECEMBER 2018	CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	CHANGE IN FV AND OTHER	31 DECEMBER 2019
- Long-term borrowings (including current portion)	9,458.2	192.0	(43.0)	9,607.2
- Short-term borrowings	25.0	-	-	25.0
- Current financial assets - Government securities	(402.6)	(109.5)	(1.2)	(513.3)
NET CHANGE DERIVING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	9,080.6	82.5	(44.2)	9,118.9

L. Government grants

Article 1, paragraphs 125 to 129, of Law 124 of 4 August 2017 (the annual markets and competition law) has introduced a number of measures designed to ensure the transparency of the government grants system. These measures, later amended by Law Decree 34 of 30 April 2019, include an obligation for companies to disclose amounts and information regarding assistance, subsidies, benefits, grants or aid, whether in cash or in kind, in the notes to the annual financial statements and, where applicable, in consolidated financial statements, where such amounts are not of a general nature and do not have the form of a fee, remuneration or compensation and have been received from a public body (paragraph 125-bis). The legislation also requires the disclosure of any grants disbursed (paragraph 126).

In accordance with Circular 5 of 22 February 2019 "Transparency in the government grants system: an assessment of the regulations and interpretation guidance" and Circular 32 of 23 December 2019 "Enterprise and competition", published by Assonime, the Terna Group has adopted the following basis of reporting for government grants:

- the regulations only apply to entities resident in Italy;
- grants have the nature of grants or donations, and represent incentives or subsidies designed to give beneficiaries a recognised economic advantage; the grants therefore take the form of donations or giving and public aid for specific purposes, and are not awarded under a general aid regime;
- the public resources used are exclusively "national";
- grants are reported on a cash basis and if the amount is not less than €10,000 (with reference to each individual beneficiary) in the reporting period.

In line with the above, the following table shows government grants collected/disbursed by the Group in 2019:

GRANTS RECEIVED (PARAGRAPH 125-BIS)

	GRANTOR					
BENEFICIARY ENTITY	NAME	TAX CODE	VAT NUMBER	TYPE OF TRANSACTION		NOTE
TERNA S.p.A.	Ministry for Economic Development	80230390587	80230390587	State aid*	7,342,517.68	Grants collected on the basis of an initial report on the state of work in progress Advance on grants awarded for Terna S.p.A. projects financed by government grants, with funding provided under the National Operational Programme (NOP) for Enterprises and Competitiveness 2014 - 2020 ERDF - AXIS IV - investment prior 4d - Action 4.3.1

* This transaction is covered by the obligation to publish in the National State Aid Register.

GRANTS DISBURSED (PARAGRAPH 126)

	BENEFICIARY					
GRANTOR	NAME	TAX CODE	VAT NUMBER	TYPE OF TRANSACTION	AMOUNT (€)	NOTE
TERNA S.p.A.	Fondazione Costruiamo il Futuro		03194700138	Giving	20,000	Funding for the "Costruiamo il Futuro" Award
TERNA S.p.A.	IRCCS - Istituto Giannina Gaslini		00577500101	Giving	20,000	Funding for renovation of the Laboratory for processing and freezing hematopoietic stem cells in liquid nitrogen
TERNA S.p.A.	Consorzio Irriguo di Chiomonte	96028800017		Giving	20,000	Funding for work on the irrigation system in the town of Chiomonte
TERNA S.p.A.	Fondazione Palazzo Strozzi		04963330487	Giving	30,000	Gift to become a member of the Partners Committee at Palazzo Strozzi
TERNA S.p.A.	Fondazione Cortile dei Gentili		08542180966	Giving	24,200	Funding for the "La Scala. Tra Cielo e Terra" initiative
Terna Rete Italia S.p.A.	VIVERE CON DIGNITA onlus		93195410233	Giving	10,000	Restoration of the ANTICA PIEVE DI SAN SALVAR
TOTAL					124.200	

M. Events after 31 December 2019

Terna meetings held in Monterenzio and Calenzano

On 8 and 9 January 2020, Terna met the residents of towns in the Province of Bologna in Monterenzio and residents of towns in the Province of Florence in Calenzano in order to present future projects and inform them of the process involved in installing the new 380kV power line between the existing Colunga and Calenzano substations, and the re-routing of the existing Bargi-Calenzano line.

The project, which will improve the security and efficiency of the local electricity system, consists of the upgrade of an existing line and, for this very reason, local authorities and Terna have chosen to retain as far as possible the current route in order to avoid affecting new areas.

Entry into service of the new Benevento III-Pontelandolfo power line

Following the positive conclusion of energy transmission tests, Terna switched on the new 150kV Benevento III-Pontelandolfo power line on 17 January 2020. The line, which is over 15 km long, connects the new Pontelandolfo electricity substation with the Benevento III electricity substation. The work, which will boost the efficiency and sustainability of the area's electricity grid, is the final phase of work leading to Terna's activation of the new 150kV Castelpagano - Morcone - Pontelandolfo - Benevento III power line and will facilitate the integration of renewable energy produced in the Benevento area in to the grid.

In 2019, the Benevento area also saw Terna complete the final stage of the demolition work involved in construction of the 380kV Benevento II - Foggia power line and the Benevento III electricity substation. This project, in addition to boosting energy transmission capacity in the area, has enabled over 42 km of old lines to be demolished and approximately 10 km to be laid underground.

Bloomberg Gender Equality Index (GEI)

On 21 January 2020, Terna was confirmed for the second year running in the Bloomberg Gender Equality Index (GEI), an international index that measures companies' performance regarding gender equality issues and the quality and transparency of their public reporting, a decisive factor in the overall assessment. Terna's performance in 2020 was above average both in terms of the companies included in the index and with respect to the companies in the Utilities segment. In addition to its presence in the Bloomberg GEI, Terna is included in the following international sustainability indices: Dow Jones Sustainability (World and Europe), Euronext (World, Europe and Eurozone), FTSE4Good, STOXX® ESG (Global, Environmental, Social and Governance), STOXX® Low Carbon, ECPI, ESI (Ethibel Sustainability Index), MSCI and United Nations Global Compact.

Santerno electricity substation

The new 150kV Santerno electricity substation, forming part of the Ravenna Canala - Fusignano power line in the province of Ravenna, entered service on 24 January 2020, after nine months of work. The substation, built using the latest technology, has boosted the security and efficiency of the local electricity grid and has improved the transport of renewable energy produced in the area. The surface of the substation is approximately 7,600 square metres and the buildings occupy just over 450 square metres.

Fourth edition of Next Energy



The 10 teams of innovators chosen following the Call for Ideas for the fourth edition of Next Energy were selected on 29 January 2020 and will take part in an incubation process lasting 3 months. 5 start-ups were also selected following the Call for Growth and will take part in the Engage with Terna programme. The area of interest for both the Calls for the fourth edition of Next Energy was tools designed to enable the energy transition towards a more efficient, secure and sustainable system, including robotics, the internet of things, energy tech, advanced materials, e-mobility, storage, the integration of the environment with infrastructure and digitalisation.

Only one of the 10 teams of innovators will receive a voucher worth €50,000 to be used to purchase services that will help to accelerate the project, whilst the start-ups selected as a result of the Call for Growth will engage in pilot projects to be developed at Terna's Innovation Hubs.

Start-up of work on the new Celano substation

Two months after presenting the design for the new Celano substation to local citizens, Terna commenced work on 30 January 2020. The new 150kV substation and the related connectors (Collarmele - Acea Smist. East/Tagliacozzo, Avezzano substation - Rocca di Cambio/Collarmele substation) will boost the security and efficiency of the local electricity grid, will enable a reorganisation of the area and the secure transport of renewable energy produced in the local area, avoiding grid losses. The new substation is expected to take around 2 years to complete.

Robecosam's Gold Class

After being nominated Industry Leader in the Electric Utilities segment of the Dow Jones Sustainability Index for the second consecutive year, on 30 January 2020, Terna was again included in Robecosam's Gold Class. Terna, which has been included in the Dow Jones for eleven years running, has thus been included in the Gold Class seven times, obtaining a score of 90/100 and ranking number one among Electric Utilities, with the segment scoring an average of 45/100.

RobecoS.A.M's annual rankings are based on strict economic, environmental and social performance criteria and a review of the main disputes. The areas looked at include: risk management, corporate governance, environmental impact, community relations, the management of human resources, stakeholder engagement, respect for human rights and supply chain monitoring.

Memorandum of Understanding with consumer associations

On 31 January 2020, Terna and 11 consumer associations signed a Memorandum of Understanding with a view to strengthening cooperation between the parties with regard to Terna's activities as the transmission system operator, above all in relation to pursuing the goal of a secure, efficient electricity service. Terna and the consumer associations will work together on projects involving the national transmission grid and are committing to cooperating during consultation processes organised in order to identify the best location for new electricity infrastructure. The agreement also centres around information sharing regarding European, national, regional and local legislative initiatives; the promotion of awarenessraising actions regarding energy transmission issues; and the launch of a study of initiatives to decarbonise the electricity and energy systems of Italy's smaller islands. The agreement will also lead to jointly developed training and information campaigns targeted at consumer associations and focusing on issues relating to the electricity industry.

Benevento III electricity substation: Terna begins the planting of over 2,000 trees and shrubs

On 7 February 2020, Terna began the process of planting greenery around the Benevento III substation in the La Francesca district of Benevento. This green engineering initiative involves the planting of over 2,000 trees and shrubs along the substation perimeter, helping the infrastructure to blend in better with its surroundings and bringing benefits for the area's ecology and environment.

Nuraminis substation

The new 150kV Nuraminis substation entered service in Sardinia on 13 February 2020. The new switching substation, which is on the Nurri-Villasor power line, was connected to the end user, Italcementi's cement works, definitively resolving particular problems with the connection of this major industrial plant, previously connected to the existing line with a hard shunt. The new Nuraminis substation will also guarantee greater efficiency and reliability for entire area of southern Sardinia. The infrastructure was designed and built by the North-western Infrastructure Design and Construction unit, which handed over the substation for operation by the Villasor Infrastructure unit.

Memorandum of Understanding with Veneto Regional Authority

On 18 February 2020, Terna entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with Veneto Regional Authority regarding the start-up of a trial involving use of the regional electricity grid for environmental



monitoring of the local area. The Company has, for the first time in Veneto, developed and installed an integrated system for gathering, measuring and real-time processing of data on the performance of our power lines in the region. Thanks to the widespread presence of electricity infrastructure around the region, the use of IoT Boxes will significantly increase our capacity to observe the state of the grid and guarantee efficient management and prompt intervention if needed. We have currently installed approximately 500 devices for monitoring the grid and gathering data on our infrastructure in the region, which is primarily located in the provinces of Belluno, Verona and Vicenza.

Start-up of work on the new Collesalvetti electricity substation

Work began on construction of the new 132kV "Collesalvetti" switching substation, located in Guasticce, on 27 February 2020. The new infrastructure, which will connect with the "Livorno Marzocco-Marginone", "Guasticce-Cascina", "Guasticce-Pisa P.M." and "Guasticce-Acciaiolo Livorno" power lines, will boost the security and efficiency of the local grid, reducing grid losses and the risk of outages. It will also enable the system to meet the increased demand for electricity linked to major residential and industrial development in the area, which is located close to Livorno's "Amerigo Vespucci" freight terminal. The new substation, built with a 132kV double busbar and overhead insulators, will take approximately 3 and a half years to complete and will cover more than 18,000 square metres. The electricity infrastructure will be located on high ground in order to optimise security in view of the area's hydraulic characteristics.

Acquisition of Brugg Cables completed

On 29 February 2020, as part of the growth strategy for Non-regulated Activities, Terna, acting through its subsidiary, Terna Energy Solutions S.r.l., completed the acquisition of a 90% interest in Brugg Kabel AG (a Brugg group company), one of Europe's leading manufacturers of terrestrial cables. The acquired company designs, develops, produces, installs and maintains electric cables for all voltages and accessories for high-voltage cables. The acquisition follows on from the preliminary agreement signed on 20 December 2019. The acquisition of Brugg Kabel will give the Terna Group access to a centre of excellence for research, development and testing of one of the core technologies for a TSO, namely terrestrial cables.

Covid-19

Early 2020 has been marked by the global health emergency caused by the widespread outbreak of Covid-19. This has had a major impact on markets and on the Italian and global economies. Against a continually changing backdrop and with increased uncertainty linked to the potential development of the infection, the outlook for the global economy remains weak.

The economic impact of the Covid-19 emergency on the Terna Group's business is currently being assessed. However, we do not expect to see significant direct effects, given the largely regulated nature of our business, with regulated revenue based on specific resolutions issued by the regulator, ARERA, on the basis of the level of capital expenditure and assets entering service in previous years. In particular, assuming a progressive return to business as usual in Italy from the second quarter of 2020, the Group's results are expected to be in line with previously announced financial guidance. In terms of our Non-regulated Activities, we do not expect a significant impact on EBITDA, also bearing in mind that a majority of the relevant contracts are of a recurring nature and their contribution to earnings is not at risk.

With regard items in the financial statements measured at fair value, all borrowings and the related hedges accounted for on a hedge accounting basis do not, by their nature, have a significant impact. This reflects existing hedging relationships and the strength of contract counterparties. In addition, in terms of our credit rating, Terna's strong financial position, combined with the stability of our business, means that the standalone rating is not significantly at risk.

Finally, it should be noted that the Terna Group has taken all the necessary steps to contain the infection, in line with the legislation in force with the aim of protecting the health and safety of our workforce and ensuring the security of Italy's electricity system.

Disclosure

pursuant to art. 149-duodecies of the CONSOB Regulations for Issuers

The following table, prepared pursuant to art. 149-duodecies of the CONSOB Regulations for Issuers, shows the fees paid for audit and other services provided by the Terna Group's independent auditors in 2019.

ENTITY PRO

Audit of the accounts and financial statements Attestation and other services Total

	(€)
OVIDING SERVICE	FEES DUE FOR THE YEAR ³⁴
PwC	842,539
PwC	174,495
	1,017,034

Attestation

of the consolidated financial statements pursuant -to art. 81-ter of CONSOB Regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended

- paragraphs 3 and 4 of Legislative Decree 58 of 24 February 1998, attest to:
- the adequacy with regard to the nature of the Company, and
- consolidated financial statements during the year ended 31 December 2019.
- internal control and risk management systems that is generally accepted at international level.
- 3. We also attest that:
- 3.1 the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019:
 - art. 9 of Legislative Decree 38/2005;
 - b. are consistent with the underlying accounting books and records;
- companies included in the scope of consolidation.
- as well as a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed.

Rome, 10 March 2020

Chief Executive Officer Luigi Ferraris

(original signed)

"Terna Group"

1. The undersigned, Luigi Ferraris, as Chief Executive Officer, and Agostino Scornajenchi, as Manager responsible for Terna S.p.A.'s financial reporting, having also taken account of the provisions of art.154-bis,

- the effective application of the administrative and accounting procedures adopted in preparation of the

2. The administrative and accounting procedures adopted in preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 were drawn up, and their adequacy assessed, on the basis of the regulations and methods adopted by Terna S.p.A. in accordance with the Internal Control-Integrated Framework model issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This Commission has established a body of general principles providing a standard for

a. have been prepared in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union through EC Regulation 1606/2002, issued by the European Parliament and by the Council on 19 July 2002 and the statutory requirements implementing the provisions of

c. provide a true and fair view of the financial position and results of operations of the issuer and the

3.2 the Directors' report on operations includes a reliable analysis of the operating and financial performance and situation of the issuer and the companies included in the scope of consolidation,

> Manager responsible for financial reporting Agostino Scornajenchi

> > (original signed)

Independent auditor's report

pursuant to article 14 and 16 of Legislative Decree 39 of 27 January 2010 and article 10 of the Regulations (EU) no. 537/2014 - Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019



Independent auditor's report

in accordance with article 14 of Legislative Decree 39 of 27 January 2010 and article 10 of Regulation (EU) 537/2014

To the shareholders of Terna SpA

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Terna SpA and its subsidiaries (Terna group), which comprise the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2019, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Terna group as of 31 December 2019, and of the result of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree 38/05.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in section Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of this report. We are independent of Terna SpA (the Company) pursuant to the regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable to audits of financial statements under Italian law. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA

Sede legale e amministrativa: Milano 20149 Via Monte Rosa 91 Tel. 0277851 Fax 027785240 Cap. Soc. Euro 6.890.000,00 i.v., C. F. e P.IVA e Reg. Imp. Milano 12979880155 Iscritta al nº 119644 del Registro dei Revisori Legali - Altri Uffici: Ancona 60131 Via Sandro Totti 1 Tel. 0712132311 - Bari 70122 Via Abate Gimma 72 Tel. 0805640211 - Bologna 40126 Via Angelo Finelli 8 Tel. 0516186211 - Brescia 25123 Via Borgo Pietro Wuhrer 23 Tel. 0303697501 - Catania 95129 Corso Italia 302 Tel. 0957532311 - Firenze 50121 Viale Gramsci 15 Tel. 0552482811 -Genova 16121 Piazza Piccapietra 9 Tel. 01020041 - Napoli 80121 Via dei Mille 16 Tel. 08136181 - Padova 35138 Via Vicenza 4 Tel. 049873481 - Palermo 00141 Via Marchese Ugo 60 Tel. 091349737 - Parma 43121 Viale Tanara 20/A Tel. 0521275911 - Pescara 65127 Piazza Eltore Troilo 8 Tel. 0854545711 - Roma 00154 Largo Fochetti 29 Tel. 06570251 - Torino 10122 Corso Palestro 10 Tel. 01556771 - Trento 38122 Viale della Costituzione 33 Tel. 0461237004 - Treviso 31100 Viale Felissent 90 Tel. 0422696911 - Trieste 34125 Via Cesare Battisti 18 Tel. 0403480781 -Udine 33100 Via Poscolle 43 Tel. 043225789 - Varese 21100 Via Albuzzi 43 Tel. 0332285039 - Verona 37135 Via Francia 21/C Tel. 0458263001 - Vicenza 36100 Piazza Pontelandolfo 9 Tel. 0444393311

www.pwc.com/it





Key Audit Matters

Auditing procedures performed in response to key audit matters

Capital expenditure for the development and operation of the transmission grid

Section D – Notes to the consolidated statement of financial position – Note 12 Property, plant and equipment and Note 14 Intangible assets

Costs capitalised during the year as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets amount to Euro 1,264 million and mainly relate to capital expenditure for the development and operation of the transmission grid.

Revenue from transmission and dispatching activities (regulated activities) is determined each year in accordance with the approved regulatory tariffs which are based on a pre-established return on capital invested, plus amortisation and depreciation and operating costs recognised.

The capitalisation of costs for the operation and development of the transmission grid therefore represented a key matter in the audit of the consolidated financial statements, also considering the magnitude and the high number of transactions. We performed an understanding and evaluation of the system of internal control over the capital expenditure cycle, with particular reference to identification of the key controls and the verification of their effectiveness.

We assessed that the capitalisation of costs complied with the international accounting standards.

We also performed substantive procedures analysing, on a sample basis, the supporting documentation of capitalised costs in order to verify that these costs were accurate, complete and pertaining to the reporting period.

Our tests also included the analysis of the notes to the consolidated financial statements to verify the adequacy and completeness of the disclosures therein.

Revenue from non-regulated activities

Section B – Notes to the consolidated income statement - Note 1 Revenue from sales and services and Note 2 Other revenue and income and Section C – Operating segments

Total revenue, amounting to Euro 2,345 million, includes revenue from non-regulated activities of Euro 212 million equal to about 9% of total revenue of the group.

Non-regulated activities mainly consist of the development, production and sale of power transformers, miscellaneous services in favour of third parties and the construction of a part of international interconnectors, providing for a variety of cases and different degree of complexity of the underlying transactions. With respect to the main revenue streams from non-regulated activities, we performed an understanding and evaluation of key controls implemented by the group.

We verified the recognition of revenue from non-regulated activities through substantive procedures including analyses, on a sample basis, of the supporting documentation, focusing on the contractual clauses underlying the recognition of revenue within the correct reporting period also in consideration of the requirements envisaged by IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers".

Key Audit Matters

Therefore, the recognition of revenue from nonregulated activities was a key matter in the audit the consolidated financial statements.

Derivative financial instruments

Section D – Notes to the consolidated statement financial position – Note 24 Borrowings and fit liabilities and Section E – Commitments and ris

The amount of borrowings in the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019 is Euro,632 million.

In accordance with the risk management policie the group mitigates its exposure to the change in interest rates by entering into derivative financia instruments for hedging purposes.

The notional amount of derivatives at 31 Decem 2019 is Euro 5,394 million.

Considering the magnitude of values, the degree complexity of both the fair value measurement p and the recognition rules provided for by IFRS of "Financial Instruments", the verification of derifinancial instruments was considered as a key m the audit of the consolidated financial statement

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree 38/05 and, in the terms prescribed by law, for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The directors are responsible for assessing the group's ability to continue as a going concern and, in preparing the consolidated financial statements, for the appropriate application of the going concern basis of accounting, and for disclosing matters related to going concern. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate Terna SpA or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

	Auditing procedures performed in response to key audit matters
of	Our tests also included the analysis of the notes to the consolidated financial statements to verify the adequacy and completeness of the disclosures therein.
nt of inancial isks	
iro es,	We performed an understanding and evaluation of the system of internal control over the measurement process of the derivative financial instruments and related accounting treatment.
in ial	We recalculated, on a sample basis and involving the experts of the PwC network,
nber	the fair value of derivatives and we verified the hedge effectiveness in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 and with the corporate procedures.
e of process 9 ivative natter in nts.	Our tests also included the analysis of the notes to the consolidated financial statements to verify the adequacy and completeness of the disclosures therein.



The board of statutory auditors is responsible for overseeing, in the terms prescribed by law, the group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercised professional judgment and maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit. Furthermore:

- we identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; we designed and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks; we obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
- we obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group's internal control;
- we evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;
- we concluded on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern;
- we evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;
- we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.



We communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by ISA Italia regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.

We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we complied with the regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable under Italian law and communicated with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determined those matters that are of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report.

Additional Disclosures required by article 10 of Regulation (EU) 537/2014

We were appointed by the shareholders of Terna SpA at the general meeting held on 13 May 2011 to perform the audit of the Company separate and consolidated financial statements for the years ending 31 December 2011 through 31 December 2019.

We declare that we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in article 5, paragraph 1, of Regulation (EU) 537/2014 and that we remained independent of the Company in conducting the audit.

We confirm that the opinion on the consolidated financial statements expressed in this report is consistent with the additional report to the board of statutory auditors, in its capacity as audit committee, prepared pursuant to article 11 of the aforementioned Regulation.

Report on Compliance with other Laws and Regulations

Opinion in accordance with article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree 39/2010 and article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree 58/1998

The directors of Terna SpA are responsible for preparing a report on operations and a report on the corporate governance and ownership structure of the Terna group as of 31 December 2019, including their consistency with the relevant consolidated financial statements and their compliance with the law.

We have performed the procedures required under auditing standard (SA Italia) 720B in order to express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations and of the specific information included in the report on corporate governance and ownership structure referred to in article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree 58/1998, with the consolidated financial statements of the Terna group as of 31 December 2019 and on their compliance with the law, as well as to issue a statement on material misstatements, if any.



In our opinion, the report on operations and the specific information included in the report on corporate governance and ownership structure mentioned above are consistent with the consolidated financial statements of the Terna group as of 31 December 2019 and are prepared in compliance with the law.

With reference to the statement referred to in article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree 39/2010, issued on the basis of our knowledge and understanding of the group obtained in the course of the audit, we have nothing to report.

Statement in accordance with article 4 of Consob Regulation implementing Legislative Decree 254 of 30 December 2016

The directors of Terna SpA are responsible for the preparation of the non-financial statement pursuant to Legislative Decree 254 of 30 December 2016. We have verified that the directors approved the non-financial statements.

Pursuant to article 3, paragraph 10, of Legislative Decree 254 of 30 December 2016, the non-financial statement is the subject of a separate statement of compliance issued by ourselves.

Rome, 16 April 2020

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA

Signed by

Luca Bonvino (Partner)

This report has been translated from the original version which was issued in Italian language, solely for the convenience of international readers.